
Mark Saccoccio  
Town Clerk  

  01525 631920 
      info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk 

 www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk 

 

 

 
The Council Chamber, The White House, Hockliffe Street, Leighton Buzzard LU7 1HD 

8 March 2023 
 
To:  Members of the South Side working party (Councillors A Dodwell, R Goodchild, 
V Harvey, T Morris, S Owen, C Palmer and P Carberry) 
(Copies to all Town Councillors for information) 

 
NOTICE OF MEETING 

 
You are hereby summoned to attend a meeting of South Side working party to be held 
on Monday, 13 March 2023 commencing at 10.30 am in the The Council Chamber, 
The White House, Hockliffe Street, Leighton Buzzard LU7 1HD.  

 
M Saccoccio  
Town Clerk 

AGENDA 
 
1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 

 Schedule 12 of the Local Government Act 1972 requires a record be kept of the 
Members present and that this record form part of the minutes of the meeting. 
Members who cannot attend a meeting should tender apologies to the Town 
Clerk. 
 

2.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 

 (i) The Localism Act 2011 and the Code of Conduct requires Councillors to 
declare any pecuniary interests, other registrable interests or sensitive interests 
in items on the meeting agenda, which are not already included in the Register 
of Interests. Members may choose to declare interests already listed in the 
Register for clarity and transparency. 
 
(ii) For disclosable pecuniary interests, Members must leave the room and 
not participate in discussion or voting, unless a dispensation has been granted. 
 
(iii) For other registrable or non-registrable interests which directly relate to 
the financial interest of a Member, a relative or close associate, councillors may 
speak on the matter only if members of the public may also speak at the 
meeting. Thereafter, Members should leave the room and not participate in 
discussion or voting, unless a dispensation has been granted.  
 
(iv) The Council/Committee/Sub-Committee is asked to consider approving 
any requests for dispensations to speak/vote on any agenda item in 
accordance with the Dispensations Procedure.  

THIS MEETING MAY 
BE RECORDED * 

Public Document Pack

mailto:info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk
http://www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk/


SOUTH SIDE WORKING PARTY Monday, 13 March 2023 
 

 

 

 

3.   QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC (3 MINUTES PER PERSON; 15 MINUTES 

TOTAL)  

 

 To receive questions and statements from members of the public in respect of 
any item of business included in the agenda, as provided for in Standing Order 
No.s 3 (e)(f)(g) and 3(h). 
 

4.   MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING (Pages 1 - 4) 

 

 (a) To receive and approve as a correct record the minutes of the South 
Side Working Party meeting held on 9 January 2023 (attached), in accordance 
with Standing Order 12. 
 
(b)    To receive information updates on matters arising from the previous 
meeting (if appropriate).  
 

5.   MASTERPLANNING UPDATE  

 

 To receive information from the consultants appointed to undertake an 
indicative Masterplanning exercise on land south of the High Street. 
 

6.   CENTRAL BEDFORDSHIRE UPDATE  

 

 To receive any updates from CBC officers as available.  
 

7.   ANY OTHER UPDATES  

 

 To receive any other updates relating to land south of the High Street, if 
available and to consider next steps.  
 

* Phones and other equipment may be used to film, audio record, tweet or blog from this meeting by an individual Council member, 
officer or member of the public.  No part of the meeting room is exempt from public filming unless the meeting resolves to go into 
exempt session.  The use of images or recordings arising from this is not within the Council’s control. 



   
   

Page 20 

 
LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL 

 
SOUTH SIDE WORKING PARTY 

 
MONDAY 9 JANUARY  2022 AT 1030 HOURS  

 
Present: Councillors  S Owen 
  V Harvey 
  C Palmer (Chair) 
  T Morris 
  R Goodchild 
  P Carberry 
       

                      Also in attendance:           M Saccoccio, Town Clerk 
  S Sandiford, Deputy Town Clerk 

 L Salmon, Head of Cultural & Economic 
Services 

  M Jahn, Committee Officer  
  P Brown (Peppercorn Group) 
 
            Remotely: Stuart Hancox, Consultant, Steven George  
  and Partners. 
  Claire Anderton, Steven George and Partners 
  Peter Brown, Steven George and Partners 
          

       Members of the Public:   2   
 

 
42/SSWP APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

 Apologies for absence were received from Councillor A Dodwell. 
 

43/SSWP DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

Councillor Palmer declared a personal interest as a member of the Leighton 
Buzzard Society and the Leighton Buzzard Archaeological and Historical Society 
and Councillor Harvey also declared a personal interest as a member of the 
South Beds Friends of the Earth. 

 
 44/SSWP QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC  
 
 There were no questions from members of the public. 

 
 45/SSWP MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 
 

(a) The Committee received the minutes of the South Side Working Party 
meeting held on 24 October 2022. 

 
 
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



South Side Working Party                                                         9 JANUARY 2023 
 
_________________________________________________________________ 
 

Page 21 

Minute reference 39/SSWP: Councillor Harvey suggested that the minutes be 
amended to reflect that it had not been universally agreed that the first 
masterplan option had been an “excellent start” (final paragraph) and that 
“serious concerns” had been raised that not all information had reached the 
consultant prior to the meeting. On discussion and voting, working party 
members agreed no changes were required to the minutes (1 in favour of 
amendments, 5 against).  
 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the South Side Working Party meeting held 
on 24 October 2022 be approved as a correct record and were signed 
accordingly. 
 
(b) Updates from the previous meeting: 

 
Concerns were raised regarding a lack of information and engagement from 
Central Bedfordshire Council.  The Town Clerk had written to the Portfolio holder 
to encourage involvement however no active response had been received to 
date.  

 
46/SSWP  MASTERPLANNING UPDATE 

 
 Consultants from Steven George and Partners gave an update presentation on 

the Masterplanning exercise for land south of the High Street.  This included a 
similar number of residential dwellings to the first iteration (130) along with a 
mixed use community building near to a multi storey car park, with various 
orientation points, several access routes into the High Street and a reference to 
the former Rothschild Garden (this could for example be a pocket park). The 
plan also included several indicative commercial units but the consultants 
suggested these could be used for leisure/community purposes if 
retail/commercial uses were not viable in this location, due to lesser visibility and 
footfall than land to the north of the High Street.  

 
A further option was presented which extended the proposals beyond the area 
of focus.  After discussions, the group agreed to continue to focus on land south 
of the High Street at the present time.  

 
  The indicative community building focussed on the uses identified by the 

Peppercorn Group but discussion took place on potential additional community- 
based uses for the site. The public consultation undertaken recently by Central 
Bedfordshire Council on the needs of community groups and organisations 
would be useful and it was hoped that this information would be shared by the 
principal authority.  

 
Members agreed it was essential that Central Bedfordshire Council as the 
biggest landowner on this site be involved in discussions and it was also 
suggested that other landowners be approached. 

 
 
 
 

Page 2



South Side Working Party                                                         9 JANUARY 2023 
 
_________________________________________________________________ 
 

Page 22 

 
 The question of financial viability was raised. A logical next step in the project 

would be to progress further with analysis of potential costs and financial viability. 
In order to ascertain costs for this next stage, the group would circulate a list of 
desirable potential uses of the site along with indicative sizes, for the consultants 
to consider further. The consultants would also fine-tune the presented designs 
before provided a copy of the slides for circulation to the group.  

 
 RESOLVED: 

(i) To note the presentation from Stephen George regarding potential 
uses of land south of the High Street and to await a copy of the slides 
to be circulated. 

(ii) To update a list of potential uses and floor sizes to help inform costs 
from consultants for the next stage in the process (assessing 
financial viability). 

(iii) To write to Central Bedfordshire Council providing a copy of the 
presentation, requesting sharing of their recent evidence gathering 
surveys and requesting a meeting date as soon as possible to 
discuss land south of the High Street further.  

 
47/SSWP CENTRAL BEDFORDSHIRE COUNCIL UPDATE 

 
 No Central Bedfordshire updates had been received or relayed to the Town 
Council. 

 
48/SSWP  ANY OTHER  UPDATES  
 
 The Group were informed of a current public engagement exercise being 

undertaken on behalf of a hotel group, prior to the potential submission of a  
planning application on the site behind the post office. Concerns were raised as 
to whether this would affect the plans for the development of land south of the 
High Street. 

 
 

 
The meeting closed at 1215 hours. 
 

I HEREBY CONFIRM THAT THE FOREGOING IS A TRUE AND ACCURATE RECORD 
OF THE MEETING HELD ON 9 JANUARY 2023. 

  

 

Chair                  13 MARCH 2023
         

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



+
Leighton Buzzard – Land South of the High Street

Composite Masterplan Presentation

09/03/2023

P
age 5

A
genda Item

 5



[
• The Vision

• Site Analysis & Opportunities

• Pedestrian Connections / Spaces

• Car Parking – Current

• Integration – Surfaces

• The Proposal

• Land Use

• Access & Movement

• Streets and Spaces

• Alternative Peppercorn Centre Masterplan

• Land to the North of the High Street; Potential 
regeneration of Waterborne Walk – A Discussion 
Piece 

• Composite Masterplan (Incl BT site Residential)

• Composite Masterplan (Incl BT site Hotel)

• Schedule of Accommodation

• Massing

• Sketch Views

Leighton Buzzard – Land South of the High Street

Introduction

P
age 6



[ Land South of the High Street

The Vision

• Masterplan led regeneration of land to the south of 
High Street

• A mix of uses, residential, retail and culture to create 
a lived in, vibrant new “place”

• High Standard of Urban Design to compliment the 
towns existing architectural heritage and assets

• Enhance the existing identity of the town and its 
sense of place

• Create a new destination for retail and culture 

• Enhance the permeability onto the site for greater 
connectivity through the town

• Create a viable Masterplan that can be used as a 
discussion and marketing tool to make it happen

P
age 7



[ Land South of the High Street

Site Analysis & Opportunities

• Extension to the town shopping area

• Maintain & Respect Existing Use / Access

• Utilise and improve existing vehicle access points

• Link N/S from Market Square to Parsons Close

• Link E/W from Church Square to Dunscombe Drive

• Improved pedestrian routes through space

• Continuous pedestrian retail circuit through town

• Creation of new focus spaces along the routes

• Relocate existing Car Parking on site

• Improve key Multiple Retailer representation by 
creating larger better quality retail units

• Respect existing character / grain / listed buildings

• Scale and massing to respect the adjacent buildings

• Retain the Fire Sttion
Park

Market
Square

P
age 8



[ Land South of the High Street

Pedestrian Connections / Spaces

• Bell Alley : widest, already has some shops 
along its length, potential to create 
continuous small scale retail opportunities 
along its length, noting the listed buildings

• Church Square : Existing vehicle access 
(slightly tight) suitable for light delivery and 
residential access.  The Square itself could 
perhaps be improved as a focus point / 
maybe a more civic role. Question over what 
to do with the empty Post Office building 
which is quite attractive.

• High Street Mews : existing small retail area, 
potential to link through to the development 
to create a circulatory route. Anticipated 
small retail opportunities

• Thoughts are that two primary pedestrian 
routes to High Street desirable, as multiple 
routes will be confusing and may present 
security issues

P
age 9



[ Land South of the High Street

Car Parking - Current

• Loss of 140 spaces on site

• Need to retain existing minor spaces on site

• Need to address Market Square Traders Van 
parking requirements : assumed near market

• Need to address additional parking demands of 
additional retail (multi-storey)

• Need to address additional parking demands of 
additional residential (on plot)

• Potential to remove some deliveries from the high 
street through new rear service route and further 
enhance / pedestrianize High Street area

266

140

126

20

P
age 10



[ Land South of the High Street

Integration - Surfaces

• Integrate into the High Street via a series of new 
linked streets and spaces 

• Designed Using ‘shared surface’ principles

P
age 11



[
• Extension to the town shopping area

• Maintain & Respect Existing Use / Access

• Utilise and improve existing vehicle access points

• Link N/S from Market Square to Parsons Close

• Link E/W from Church Square to Dunscombe Drive

• Improved pedestrian routes through space

• Continuous pedestrian retail circuit through town

• Creation of new focus spaces along the routes

• Relocate existing Car Parking on site

• Improve key Multiple Retailer representation by creating larger better 
quality retail units

• Respect existing character / grain / listed buildings

• Scale and massing to respect the adjacent buildings

• Retain the Fire Station

Land South of the High Street

The Proposal

Park

Market
Square

MSCP

FIRE 
STATION

P
age 12



[ Land South of the High Street

Land Use

Market
Square

Improved Public Realm Hard and 
Soft Landscaping

Commercial with potential for 
residential above – Frontage 
servicing; offsite parking

Retail, with potential for 
residential above

Peppercorn Centre– café, meeting 
& exhibition space,, workshop and 
activity space with changing 
facilities. 13,000 sq ft over 3 floors

Residential – a mixture of 
apartments and town houses. 
Pockets of parking in rear 
courtyards, and on plot 

FIRE 
STATION

MSCP

P
age 13



[

Secondary Access

Delivery and Residential Access 
only : Shared Surface

Land South of the High Street

Access & Movement

Park

Market
Square

MSCP

Primary Access

Early access to remove most 
commercial parking from circulation 
routes : Roadways

Cycle Route / Pathway

P
age 14



[ Land South of the High Street

Streets and Spaces

Market
Square

Park

Church
Square

• Routes have a significant 
start and end point

• Routes vary in width

• Along routes are node 
spaces of different scales to 
break up the route and add 
interest and focus

• Street routes will be based 
on ‘Manual for Streets’ 
guidance : under review

• Reference made to former 
Rothschild Gardens

CP

P
age 15



[ Land South of the High Street

Alternative Peppercorn Centre Masterplan

Park

Market
Square

• Anchors the regeneration at 
the heart of the scheme

• Extending activity and footfall 
south of the High Street

• Peppercorn Centre joined 
onto new MSCP

• MSCP increased to 260 cars

• Residential units wrap 
around the MSCP 

• A continuous active frontage 
onto the street

P
age 16



[ Land South of the High Street

Image Board – Community Hub

P
age 17



[ Land South of the High Street

Image Board – Contemporary Town Centre Living

P
age 18



[ Land North of the High Street

Potential Regeneration of Waterborne Walk

• Increased size of retail units

• Provides space for a large 
30,000 sg ft Anchor unit

• Visibility from West Street

• Potential for Leisure Box on 
top of retail units

• Parking increased from 280 
to 560 cars

• Potential to improve the 
public realm and connectivity 
to the High street and land to 
the south

• Opportunity to drive 
improvements to the High 
street 

Upper Floor

P
age 19



[ Land North of the High Street

Potential Regeneration of Waterborne Walk

Upper Floor Extract
Ground Floor

• 57,000 sq ft New retail space in 
large units (35,000 sq ft existing)

• 37,500 sq ft Leisure Box (equivalent 
to a 4 screen cinema

• New 560 space MSCP (280 existing)
• Reinforced pedestrian connection 

to the High Street
• Opportunity to add new retail / 

café offers to the main entrance

Waterborne Walk

MSCP
Leisure Box

MSCP

P
age 20



[ Composite Masterplan Options

P
age 21



[
Composite Masterplan – Including BT Building site (Residential) Option

P
age 22



[
Composite Masterplan – Including BT Building Site (Hotel) Option

P
age 23



[ Composite Masterplan Accommodation Schedule

P
age 24



[ Building Massing – BT Site Residential Option

BT Site with Residential Accommodation

P
age 25



[ Building Massing – BT Site Hotel Option

BT Site with Hotel Accommodation

P
age 26



[ Sketch Views

P
age 27



[ View from Parson’s Close Recreation Ground

P
age 28



[
View of Main Square and Peppercorn Centre

P
age 29



[ View towards Main Square to the East

P
age 30



[ View from Rothschild's Garden

P
age 31



www.stephengeorge.co.uk

Birmingham

t: +44 (0)121 222 5346

London 

t: +44 (0)203 755 5178

Leicester

t: +44 (0)116 247 0557

Leeds

t: +44 (0)113 246 7969

Solihull

t: +44 (0)121 711 6929

P
age 32



 

   
 

Have your say on plans to 
improve the area south of 
High Street 
Find out more about our plans to breathe new life into 
the area south of the High Street in Leighton Buzzard. 

Find out more at 
www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/consultations 

Page 33

Agenda Item 6



   
 

- 2 - 

Overview 

 
We are excited to share our proposals to transform part of Leighton Buzzard to ensure the town 
centre continues to be a thriving, bustling and vibrant place. 

High Streets nationally have been struggling, but Leighton Buzzard’s is performing well. We want 
to protect it and boost it by developing the Council owned land south of the High Street.  

The Council owns several parcels of land in the area south of the High Street including the 
Westlands Care Home and Day Centre site, which is soon to be vacated, and Duncombe Drive car 
park.    

Over the last six months, the Council has carried out extensive work to review development 
opportunities for this land. Our work has shown that, at this current time, the most likely demand 
is residential led mixed-use. Residential use would mean more people living, working and spending 
their money in Leighton Buzzard town which will help to ensure the town continues to be a 
thriving, bustling and vibrant place. 

Whilst future development is likely to be new homes, a residential led mixed-use site could include 
a small amount of additional retail, whilst still avoiding over-providing retail which could lead to 
empty units and undermine the success of the High Street. Through our community engagement 
work we have been told there is a strong desire for a community / cultural facility in the town. 

Car parking studies have shown that although Duncombe Drive car park is well used, there 
is plenty of parking elsewhere in the town, so consideration is being given to releasing some of the 
car park space, to increase the amount of space that could be developed.    

The benefits of increasing the size of the development land are two-fold. It makes it a much more 
attractive opportunity for developers to invest in giving us the best chance of making the biggest 
difference to the town and gives more opportunity to explore whether a new community / cultural 
facility is a possibility.    

The proposed approach strikes the best balance between meeting the Council’s objectives to 
transform the area, support the thriving High Street, retain positive community amenities such as 
car parking and explores a new community / cultural facility in the town centre without cost to the 
taxpayer.  

The Council is now consulting on its proposed approach before making a decision to proceed. The 
consultation is an opportunity for residents, businesses and stakeholders in the area to give their 
feedback on the plans. The feedback, along with other information will be considered by Members 
of Central Bedfordshire Council before making a decision.  

 

 

Page 34



   
 

- 3 - 

About the site 

The area is commonly referred to as Land South of High Street. It comprises six distinct areas in 
the freehold ownership of Central Bedfordshire Council. The site offers a unique opportunity for a 
comprehensive, new, residential led mixed-use town centre development and sustainable 
extension to the town centre’s primary shopping area.   

As the Council is building the £13million ultra-energy efficient Marigold House as a modern 
replacement for Westlands Care Home and Day Centre, consideration can be given to the future 
use of the Westlands site (area 6a and 6b) along with the other parcels of Council owned land.   
 

Picture 1: Land South of High Street, Council-owned sites 

   

The site is bounded to the north by the rear of properties fronting the High Street, mainly in retail 
use at ground floor level. The southern boundary is bounded by the rear gardens of mature houses 
fronting Church Avenue and Parsons Close recreation ground, a Victorian park with views 
extending across the river plain.  

Gro
ve R

d

Lake St

N
or

th
 S

t

Duncombe Dr

Clipstone Brook

PARSON’S 
CLOSE 

RECREATION 
GROUND

C
hurch Square

Church Ave

Pulford Rd

High Street

Hockli!e St

Bridge St

West St

A4
01

2

Gro
ve R

d

Lake St

N
or

th
 S

t

Duncombe Dr

Clipstone Brook

PARSON’S 
CLOSE 

RECREATION 
GROUND

C
hurch Square

Church Ave

Pulford Rd

High Street

Hockli!e St

Bridge St

West St

A4
01

2

Area 3

Area 4

Area 5

Area  
7b

Area 6a

Area 6b

0
N

100m

Key

  Council-owned land

 Recorded adopted highway

 Town Centre boundary

 Study Area boundary

Page 35



   
 

- 4 - 

Picture 2: Site photos     

         

Page 36



   
 

- 5 - 

Starting point  

The Council wants to transform this area of Leighton Buzzard town centre.  

The redevelopment potential of the land south of the High Street has been discussed and explored 
for a number of years. The Council is keen to progress this, particularly in light of the imminent 
relocation of the care home and day centre.  

Key aims and objectives are to deliver development that complements and strengthens the 
performance of the town centre overall and provides social, environmental and economic 
benefits. 

The scheme needs to be achievable with the recognition that there is limited or no Council funding 
available to redevelop the site itself. In preparing this proposal, the Council recognised the scheme 
would need to be realistic.  To do this we have considered market demand to rule out 
“pipedreams” and develop an approach that considers all use types but is the most likely to 
actually happen.  

 

Understanding the site and community needs 

 
Market demand summary 

To ensure our approach is realistic and deliverable, the Council carried out work to understand 
what the current market demand for the land might be and if some potential uses are unviable 
and therefore unrealistic. 

The outcome of this work has shown that, at this current time, the most likely demand for the land 
is residential led mixed-use.  

Residential use would increase footfall and support the economy in the town centre. 

A community or cultural facility could form part of a mixed-use scheme, provided it is financially 
viable in its own right.   

The market study showed there is least likely to be demand for large scale offices or large scale 
retail.  

Our research indicates a mixed-use scheme may support a small amount of office space but unless 
a large organisation requires a new headquarters, it is unlikely that large scale office will be 
deliverable. 

While a small amount of additional retail as part of a mixed-use site could be viable, over-
providing retail is more likely to lead to empty units and undermine the success of the High Street. 

 

Page 37



   
 

- 6 - 

Community facilities study  
Benchmarking has been carried out against areas of similar scale or location to understand the 
current provision of community facilities in the town centre. 

Picture 2: Community facilities within a 10-min drive from the town centre 

  

 

While there are various spaces and venues available in Leighton Buzzard, they are generally small 
and located outside the town centre. Comparison with benchmark town centres, showed that:  
 

• Leighton Buzzard is performing relatively well if the total number of halls, civic spaces, 
places of worship and schools that providing spaces for community activities are 
considered. However, there are specific types of spaces that are currently missing from the 
town centre. 

• There are insufficient spaces for arts and culture as the Council’s Library Theatre is the only 
performance space with a relatively limited capacity (170 seats).  

• There is no facility to display Leighton Buzzard’s history. The only facility related to heritage 
is Leighton Buzzard Railway.  

• There are no studio or gallery spaces for the artists and places for rehearsals are limited. 

1

2
3

4

5

6

7

8

9
10

11

12

13

9

4
5

6

2
7

8

3

1
17

PARSON’S 
CLOSE

Leighton 
Buzzard

TIDDENFOOT 
WATERSIDE 

PARK

Gro
vebury Rd

A4146

C
hu

rc
h 

St

Stoke Rd

H
ea

th
 R

d

Billington Rd

Stanbridge Rd

Hockli!e Rd�

Vandyke Rd

Grand Union Canal

PAGES 
PARK

VANDYKE RD 
CEMETERY

LINSLADE

LEIGHTON 
BUZZARD 
(NORTH)

LEIGHTON 
BUZZARD 
(SOUTH)

Soulbury Rd

4
3

1

2

1

4

5

3

2

1

2

3
4

5

6

9

10

7

8

5
1

3
4

2

2

1

10

11

500m0
N

Key

  Community Centres and Halls

   Heritage, Culture and Arts facilities   

  Other Facilities

  Leisure Facilities

  Youth Facilities

  Worship Facilities

  School Facilities

 10-Min Drive Catchment

 Study Area Boundary

Page 38



   
 

- 7 - 

• There are limited spaces that can host 100+ people. Brooklands Club can host up to 200 
people but it is not open during the day. The Recreation Rooms can host up to 120 and 
Astral Community Centre can host up to 100 people.   

• There are several leisure facilities and schools that offer spaces for community meetings 
and activities. Although, community groups are not always aware of what is available. 

• There’s scope to maximise the use of available facilities such as schools and places of 
worship outside their core function. 

The full report from this study is available on the Council website as Appendix A: Leighton Buzzard 
Engagement Report. 

 

Community engagement feedback  
Picture 3: Engagement which has taken place to inform our proposal    

 
The team undertook 1-2-1 discussions with officers and the Town Council and organised two 
online workshops and a digital survey (113 responses and 8 email responses) with community 
groups and venues about the existing provision of community facilities which also identified any 
additional requirements. The survey responses showed that: 

• 68% of the respondents believe that a multi-purpose community space is missing from 
Leighton Buzzard  

• 47.5% think that there’s a need for an exhibition space to display Leighton Buzzard’s history 

• 36.8% say that a performance space is missing from the town centre 

• 78.5% consider their venues affordable 

• 66% say that the facility they use is in a good condition 

• Users report a lack of coordination in managing community venues 

• There is peak demand during weekday evenings and weekday daytime. Consideration should 
be given to providing additional capacity in the peak period to accommodate the full scope of 
demand. 

Page 39



   
 

- 8 - 

The full analysis of the survey results and workshops is available on the Council website as 
Appendix A: Leighton Buzzard Engagement Report and Appendix B: Leighton Buzzard community 
facilities survey results. 

 

Parking study summary  
In November 2022, the Council commissioned an independent study to understand how well used 
the five public off-street car parks in Leighton Buzzard are. The study included a look at ticket sales 
and a one-week survey using an Automated Number Plate Recognition camera (ANPR). While the 
ANPR survey was just a one-week snapshot, it took place during a busy period (immediately pre-
Christmas). The demand recorded also compared well against the demand recorded over a similar 
period in the ticket sales data review. As such, it makes a robust basis for this appraisal. 

 

There are 600 public car park spaces across the five town centre car parks.  

Duncombe Drive car park provides 139 paid for car parking bays. 65 are for the general public, 3 
are disabled bays, 29 are for permit holders and 42 bays are for market traders. Market days are 
primarily Tuesday and Saturday and the market trader bays are reserved for them on those days. 
The public can park in the market trader bays when they are not reserved. 

The key findings from the parking study are:  

• Usage of all car parks in Leighton Buzzard has been increasing since the pandemic but has 
not returned to pre-pandemic levels 

• Duncombe Drive is the busiest car park and West Street the least busy 

Page 40



   
 

- 9 - 

• Market days are the busiest days for parking (Tuesdays and Saturdays) 
• Duncombe Drive has the highest turnover of spaces with most purchasing tickets for just 1 

or 2 hours at a time but not staying for the full duration 
• Across all car parks there is a degree of underused capacity. The ANPR survey showed circa 

20% of all car parking spaces are available even in the busy December period.  

The chart below shows the current car parking capacity, the current demand and that a 20% 
reduction in spaces (circa 100 spaces) could be accommodated.  

 

The full parking study report is available on the Council website as Appendix C: Leighton Buzzard 
Car Park Study. 

 

Our proposal  

In developing our proposal for the area, we considered the studies undertaken, the engagement 
feedback and our objectives. It is important to remember there is no funding for the Council to 
develop the sites so one of the key objectives was to develop an approach that could deliver the 
maximum benefits to the town without costing the Council or the taxpayer.  

We want to transform the area south of the High Street. There are some parcels of Council owned 
land that are unused, and the Westlands Care Home and Day Centre will soon sit empty. We want 
to make the best use of these Council resources for the benefit of the town.  

 

Page 41



   
 

- 10 - 

The market insight work has shown that, at this current time, the most likely demand for the land 
is residential led mixed-use.  Residential use would mean more people living, working and 
spending their money in Leighton Buzzard town which will help to ensure the town continues to 
be a thriving, bustling and vibrant place. 

Future redevelopment is likely to be new homes.  A residential led mixed-use site could include a 
small amount of additional retail, whilst avoiding over-providing retail which could lead to empty 
units and undermine the success of the High Street.  Through our community engagement work 
we have been told there is a strong desire for a community / cultural facility in the town. 

A study of public car parks across the town has shown that there is an over provision of car parking 
spaces.  Even on peak days car parking spaces sit empty and we want to make the best use of 
underused car park space for the benefit of the town. Although Duncombe Drive car park is well 
used, because there is plenty of parking elsewhere in the town, consideration is being given to 
releasing some of Duncombe Drive car park space to increase the amount of space that could be 
redeveloped.    

The benefits of increasing the size of the redevelopment land are two-fold. It makes it a much 
more attractive opportunity for developers to invest in and gives us the best chance of making the 
biggest difference to the town and gives more opportunity to explore whether a new community / 
cultural facility is a possibility.    

Our proposal for the site is to keep 30% (42 spaces) of the car parking spaces at Duncombe Drive 
car park and include 70% (97 spaces) of Duncombe Drive car park in the land available for 
development.    

Car parking in our proposal has been retained at around 80% of the total current provision across 
the town, which aligns with parking study findings regarding the parking capacity required.  

The proposed approach above strikes the best balance between delivering the maximum benefits 
for the town, retaining positive community amenities such as car parking and exploring a new 
community / cultural facility in the town centre without costing the taxpayer.  

 

Important points to note 
The Council is at an early stage in its thinking for the area and cannot be certain about the exact 
nature of the development at this stage. The work we have done has given confidence that the 
area can be developed and what is most likely to be deliverable now is residential led mixed-use.  

Releasing some of Duncombe Drive car park land is an important step, but there will be further 
steps and decisions along the way.  

Any future proposed development of the sites would need planning permission, and this would 
involve a public consultation. As part of the planning process, any development would need to 
consider its own parking provision.  

The Council is not proposing to build a community /cultural centre. A community / cultural facility 
would need to be self-sufficient financially so that it does not cost the taxpayer. 

Page 42



   
 

- 11 - 

If any income is generated from future development this would help fund other council priorities.   

 

Feedback opportunities and decision making 

You can give your feedback on these proposals by completing our questionnaire online or completing a 
paper copy. To do this online, go to www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/consultations  
   
Paper copies will be available at Leighton Buzzard library, or you can call the Council on 0300 300 8300 and 
we will send you a paper copy.  
 
The consultation is open from 10 March to 2 June 2023.  
 
A consultation is a way for us to hear from you about proposals we are suggesting. This is not the same as a 
vote, but it is a really valuable way of us hearing first-hand what you think about an idea or change. It gives 
us the opportunity to better understand the impact a change might have and change things if it isn’t quite 
right. It’s also an opportunity to hear about your own ideas.   
 
During the consultation we will also hold four information events, two online and two in-person, so that 
you can ask questions and fully understand the proposals before responding to the consultation.  The 
details of the events are below.  
 

• Saturday 25th March, 10am-2pm, Market Square  
• Tuesday 28th March, 10am-2pm, Market Square  
• Wednesday 19th April, 3:30-4:30pm, online event https://www.eventbrite.co.uk/e/leighton-

buzzard-land-south-of-high-street-webinar-1-tickets-578938188707 
• Thursday 20th April, 6:30-7:30pm, online event, https://www.eventbrite.co.uk/e/leighton-buzzard-

land-south-of-high-street-webinar-2-tickets-579051638037 

Elected Members at Central Bedfordshire Council will consider the consultation feedback and other 
information before making a decision at the Council’s Executive meeting in the October 2023.

Page 43



 

 

 

Find us online: www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk 
Call: 0300 300 8300 
Email: customers@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk 
Write to: Central Bedfordshire Council, Priory House,  
Monks Walk, Chicksands, Shefford, Bedfordshire SG17 5TQ 

Page 44



Land South of 
High Street 
07.02.2023

Leighton Buzzard

Page 45



Contents

Introduction  3

Potential New Community Facility 5

 – Community Facilities Benchmarking 
 – Engagement Summary
 –  Survey Findings
 – What people Said About Leighton         

Buzzard  
 – What people Liked From Other Places or 

Towns 
 – Key Takeaways from Research and 

Engagement
 – What Is Missing From the Town Centre 
 –  Potential Typologies and Spatial 

Requirements
 – Floorspace Assumptions for Viability 

Testing 

Development Options 25

 – Site Analysis 
 – Development Scenarios 
 – Assessment Against Council’s Objectives 

Conclusions and Next Steps  47

We Made That 2 Leighton Buzzard
Page 46



X.  Section title

Page title

00.  Introduction

Introduction

Development advisors Cushman 
& Wakefield are leading a market 
assessment study for the Land 
South of High Street in Leighton 
Buzzard, with We Made That 
supporting on design proposals 
and understanding community 
needs.

Central Bedfordshire Council (CBC) is committed 
to supporting its town centres and ensuring their 
continued economic sustainability and vitality as 
we emerge from the legacy impacts of the recent 
pandemic. 

The redevelopment potential of the Land South of 
High Street sites in particular has been discussed/
explored for a number of years. The Council is now 
keen to progress this further, particularly in light of the 
imminent relocation of the care home/day centre uses. 

Key aims are to deliver development that 
complements and strengthens the performance 
of the town centre overall, to focus on a mixed-use 
outcome with residential, commercial and leisure 
aspects as well as to deliver social, environmental and 
economic benefits. 

About this document

The purpose of this document is to showcase the 
development opportunity of the Land South of High 
Street site and the potential requirements for a new 
community facility for Leighton Buzzard. The study is 
split into two parts and seeks to:  

 – Section 01: Understand current demand and 
identify potential scale (sqm) and type of 
community facility that may be required on the site.

 – Section 02: Undertake a site capacity, massing and 
layout study to define development parameters and 
arrive at different development options in terms of 
scale and mix of uses.

Summary of existing documentation

Land South of High Street, Market Assessment, 
Cushman & Wakefield, 2022: The purpose of 
this report is to assess the potential market 
demand potential for a number of key opportunity 
development/redevelopment sites and to provide 
advice to Central Bedfordshire Counci as to the 
appropriate next steps to progress site delivery.

Central Bedfordshire Village Halls & Community 
Buildings Survey, CBC, 2017: A survey carried out 
by CBC in order to gain as comprehensive and 
accurate a picture as possible of the Village Halls and 
Community Buildings in the area.

Leisure Facilities Strategy, CBC, 2013: A document 
that sets out a strategic direction for the provision 
of indoor sports and leisure facilities in Central 
Bedfordshire.

Town Centre Car Park Study, WSP, ongoing:  
A document to support Central Bedfordshire Council 
in appraising the utilisation of off-street car parking 
spaces in Leighton Buzzard’s Town Centre.

Leighton - Linslade Development Study, NTA, 2017: 
A Development Study on appropriate place-making 
activity at Leighton-Linslade Town Centre. This 
document focuses on potential development solutions 
at Land South of High Street that reflect the trend 
towards leisure-led regeneration rather than relying on 
retail anchors as identified in the Market Intelligence 
Report (2016). 

Leighton Buzzard Town Centre Regeneration 
Appraisals, Cornerstone Assets, 2021: The purpose of 
this engagement and report is to identify the benefits 
and potential funding required (or gap funding) 
to develop the Land South of High Street (LSHS) 
regeneration area in a place making context.

Leighton Buzzard Development Brief: Land South 
of High Street, 2012: This document was previously 
adopted as Technical Guidance for development 
management purposes and stated the Land south of 
the High Street was key to the revitalisation of the town 
centre.

We Made That 3Leighton Buzzard
Page 47



Section 02: Development Options

00.  Introduction

Identify gaps in 
provision

 – Proceed with a detailed 
mapping of existing 
community facilities 
within a 10-minute drive 
time of the town centre.

 – Review existing 
community 
infrastructure and 
amenities with local 
community groups

 – Undertake 
benchmarking against 
areas of similar scale or 
location (Dunstable and 
Aylesbury).

Understand 
current and 
future demand

 – Organise 2 engagement 
workshops with 
community groups 
and venues to 
understand changes, 
improvements and 
additional community 
requirements.

 – Set up 1-2-1 meetings 
with officers and the 
Town Council

 – Provide an ongoing 
digital survey (121 survey 
and email responses).

Assess need 
of community 
facilities

 – Undertake desk-
based research to 
identify different spatial 
typologies needed and 
types of space provided 
within Leighton Buzzard.

 – Provide 2 options for 
feasibility testing

Test different development options

 – Undertake a site visit and identify different characteristics such as land uses, vacancy, pedestrian and cycle 
provision, severance, key assets such as heritage features, cultural provision, greenery and open space.

 – Explore 4 distinct scenarios for testing and provide quantification of gross areas and number of units for 
financial appraisals

 – Develop building scale and massing based on optimal footprints and height testing. 
 – Consider circulation through and around the sites, delineating private and public open space, establishing 

key frontages, locating access points and establishing parking requirements.

Section 01: Potential New Community Facility

We Made That 4 Leighton Buzzard
Page 48



01 Potential New 
Community Facility

Page 49



Page 50



  Community Centres and Halls

1. Leighton Buzzard Day Centre (potential relocation 
to Hockliffe Road site)

2. Linslade Community Hall
3. Foster Institute
4. Gables Masonic Hall
5. The Recreation Rooms
6. Linslade Memorial Pavilion
7. Reclaim Life Centre
8. Meadow Way Community Association
9. Astral Park Community Centre
10. Pages Park Pavilion
11. Brooklands Club

  Heritage, Culture and Arts Facilities        

1. Leighton Buzzard Library Theatre
2. Leighton Buzzard Railway Museum 

  Other Key Facilities      

1. Leighton Linslade Town Council
2. The Royal British Legion
3. Leighton Buzzard Market
4. Community fridge 
5. SVRA (Southcott Village Residents Association)

01.  Potential New Community Facility

Community Facilities 
Benchmarking 
Leighton Buzzard

Leighton Buzzard has several 
community spaces/ venues 
clustered near the train station 
but there’s only one key facility 
(Library Theatre) within the town 
centre.

A £25 million leisure centre (former Tiddenfoot 
Centre) is on the pipeline. There’s a substantial 
amount of leisure facilities, recreation grounds and 
schools providing spaces for community activities, 
most far from the town centre.

There is no local heritage museum or exhibition space 
to exhibit Leighton Buzzard’s history. The only space 
related to heritage is Leighton Buzzard Railway. 

The Library Theatre is the only performance venue, 
but has a limited capacity of 170 seats.

  Leisure Facilities

1. Bluebell Wood
2. Linslade Wood
3. Alwins Field Allotment
4. Alwins Field Recreation Ground
5. Mentmore Road Recreation Ground
6. New centre (replacing Tiddenfoot Leisure Centre)
7. Leighton Town FC Football Ground
8. Vandyke Road Playing Field
9. Pages Park Pavilion
10. Pages Field
11. Astral Park Sports Centre
12. Leighton Buzzard Town Tennis & Cricket Club

  Youth Facilities

1. TACTIC (Teenage Advice Centre-Teenage 
Information Centre)

2. Leighton Buzzard Children’s Centre
3. Youth Club (adjacent to Gilbert Inglefield Academy)
4. 1st Leighton Buzzard Scout Group
5. Church Riverside Scout Group

  Worship Facilities (town centre)

1. Trinity Methodist Church
2. Sacred Heart Catholic Church
3. The Salvation Army
4. Hockliffe Street Baptist Church

  School Facilities*

1. Southcott Lower School
2. Linslade Lower School
3. Linslade Middle School (music room)
4. Cedars Upper School
5. Vandyke Upper School
6. Brooklands Middle School
7. Leighton Middle School
8. Pulford Lower School
9. Leedon Lower School
10. Beaudesert Lower School

* School facilities providing space for community 
activities after school hours

Note: Facilities shown are within a 10-min drive 
catchment from the town centre. Facilities outside this 
area have not been mapped

We Made That 7Leighton Buzzard
Page 51



01.  Potential New Community Facility

500m0
N

1

2

3
4

5

6

7

8

9
10

11

12

13

9

4
5

6

2
7

8

3

1
17

PARSON’S 
CLOSE

Leighton 
Buzzard

TIDDENFOOT 
WATERSIDE 

PARK

Gro
vebury

 R
d

A4146

C
hu

rc
h 

S
t

Stoke Rd

H
ea

th
 R

d

Billington Rd

Stanbridge Rd

Hockliffe Rdο

Vandyke R
d

Grand Union Canal

PAGES 
PARK

VANDYKE RD 
CEMETERY

LINSLADE

LEIGHTON 
BUZZARD 
(NORTH)

LEIGHTON 
BUZZARD 
(SOUTH)

Soulbury Rd

4

3

1

2

1

4

5

3

2

1

2

3
4

5

6

9

10

7

8

5
1

3
4

2

2

1

Key

  Community Centres and Halls

   Heritage, Culture and Arts facilities   

  Other Facilities

  Leisure Facilities

  Youth Facilities

  Worship Facilities

  School Facilities

 10-Min Drive Catchment

 Study Area Boundary

10

11

We Made That 8Leighton Buzzard
Page 52



01.  Potential New Community Facility

Community Facilities 
Benchmarking 
Selected town centres

Leighton Buzzard 
Population: 42,392 (2021)

Dunstable 
Population: 40,627 (2021)

Aylesbury 
Population: 87,135 (2021)

Comparing Leighton Buzzard 
to other nearby successful 
communities reveals what an 
appropriate level of facilities 
provision would be. The provision 
of good quality community 
facilities is one of the important 
ingredients for a successful 
community. However, each 
community has different needs 
that local provision needs to 
reflect.

This section includes benchmarking against areas 
of similar scale or location. Dunstable and Aylesbury 
were the 2 town centres selected for comparison 
based on the proximity to Leighton Buzzard, scale 
of the town centre and size of population. The 
benchmarking is both on the typology of community 
facilities available and the quantity of provision.

The following pages (p. 9-14)  highlight the key 
community facilities within 10-min drive from each 
town centre. The mapping for Leighton Buzzard was 
based on existing relevant documentation produced 
by the council as well as feedback from community 
groups and venues. The mapping for Dunstable and 
Aylesbury was based on desk-based research. 

The mapping and research include community halls, 
leisure facilities, libraries, youth spaces, faith spaces 
providing community rooms, conference spaces, 
heritage/museum spaces as well as spaces related 
to arts and culture. Health or education facilities 
were not part of the scope. School facilities providing 
spaces for community groups after school hours have 
been mapped out in Leighton Buzzard. Equivalent 
information for Dunstable or Aylesbury is missing due 
to the lack of information provided. 

We Made That 9Leighton Buzzard
Page 53



The table below summarises the benchmarking 
analysis for the 3 town centres. Leighton Buzzard and 
Dunstable are significantly smaller than Aylesbury, 
although, these are geographically comparable as the 
mapping highlights facilities within a 10-min drive from 
each centre.  

01.  Potential New Community Facility

Community Facilities 
Benchmarking 
Comparison

Leighton Buzzard 
Population: 42,392 (2021)

Dunstable 
Population: 40,627 (2021)

Aylesbury 
Population: 87,135 (2021)

Population
C

om
m

unity C
entres, Youth 

and O
ther Facilities  

H
eritage, C

ulture and  
A

rts Facilities
Leisure 

Facilities

Leighton Buzzard 
Railway (incl. booking 
office, shop and 
community room)

Dunstable Conference 
Centre (750 seats)

The Little Theatre 
(99 seats)

Priory House Heritage & 
Tourist Centre

Queens Park Arts Centre 
(6 studios, cafe)

Limelight Theatre 
(120 seats)

Discover Bucks Museum 
(incl. 2 galleries)

Leighton Buzzard Library 
Theatre (170 seats)

Grove Theatre 
(780 seats)

Waterside Theatre 
(1200 seats)

While there are various spaces and venues available in 
Leighton Buzzard, they are generally small and located 
outside the town centre. Compared to Dunstable 
and Aylesbury, Leighton Buzzard lacks facilities for 
heritage, arts and culture. Leighton Buzzard has a 
substantial amount of leisure facilities that provide 
spaces for regular or one-off meetings.

We Made That 10Leighton Buzzard
Page 54



  Community Centres and Halls

1. Houghton Regis Memorial Hall 
2. Dunstable South Childrens Centre
3. Dunstable Masonic Hall
4. Beecroft Community Centre
5. Downside Community Centre
6. The Dunstable Centre
7. Lewsey Community Centre
8. Peter Newton Pavilion
9. Downside Neighbourhood Centre
10.  The Incuba
11. The Dunstable Community Halls
12.  Dunstable United Services Club

  Heritage, Culture and Arts Facilities      

1. Priory House Heritage Centre
2. Grove Theatre
3. Dunstable Conference Centre
4. The Little Theatre, Dunstable Rep 

  Other Facilities      

1. Dunstable Town Council
2. Dunstable Library

01.  Potential New Community Facility

Community Facilities 
Benchmarking 
Dunstable

Dunstable has a variety of 
community facilities mainly 
clustered around the town 
centre. It also has a strong offer 
of performance spaces including: 
Grove Theatre (780 seats), 
Dunstable Conference Centre 
(750 seats), The Little Theatre 
(99 seats).

Priory Heritage Centre is also an important 
community facility in Dunstable town centre offering 
an exhibition space, a meeting/ tea room and a tourist 
information centre.

The council-owned Dunstable Centre is a new leisure 
and community space in the heart of the town centre 
costing around £20 million.

  Leisure Facilities

1. Dunstablians RUFC
2. Tithe Farm Skate Park
3. Creasey Park Community Football Centre
4. Dunstable Sea Cadets
5. Bedfordshire Football Association
6. Houghton Regis Leisure Centre
7. The Dunstable Centre
8. Lewsey Sports Park
9. Puddle Ducks West Herts

  Youth Facilities     

1. 4th Dunstable Scout Group
2. Grove Corner Youth and Community Centre
3. Dunstable Young Peoples Centre
4. Pioneer Youth and Community Centre
5. Houghton Regis Children’s Centre

  Worship Facilities (town centre)

1. COM Church
2. The Parish Church Hall
3. The Methodist Church The Square
4. The Salvation Army Worship and Community 

Centre

Note: School facilities have not been mapped out due 
to lack of information. 

Note: Facilities shown are within a 10-min drive 
catchment from the town centre. Facilities outside this 
area have not been mapped

We Made That 11Leighton Buzzard
Page 55



01.  Potential New Community Facility

500m0
N

1

2

1

3

1
2

3 4

4

5

1
2

3

7

2

6

4

3

5

1

1

7

3

4

5

8

9

10

11

12

2

6

1

4

2

8

9

Key

  Community Centres and Halls

   Heritage, Culture and Arts facilities   

  Other Facilities

  Leisure Facilities

  Youth Facilities

  Worship Facilities

 10-Min Drive Catchment

 Study Area Boundary

We Made That 12Leighton Buzzard
Page 56



  Community Centres and Halls

1. Haydon Hill Community Centre
2. Aylesbury Vale Multicultural Centre
3. Prebendel Farm Community Centre
4. Meadowcroft Community Centre
5. Buckingham Park Community Centre 
6. Alfred Rose Community Centre
7. Kingsbrook Community Centre
8. Bedgrove Community Centre
9. Hawkslade Community Centre
10.  Eskdale Community Centre
11. Southcourt Community Centre
12.  Elmhurst Family Centre
13. Berryfields Family Centre
 

  Heritage, Culture and Arts Facilities           

1. Discover Bucks Museum
2. Aylesbury Waterside Theatre
3. Queen Park Arts Centre
4. The Petri Dish

  Other Facilities      

1. Aylesbury Library
2. Rivet Sports and Social Club
3.  Healthy Living Centre
4. Buckinghamshire Adult Learning Centre

01.  Potential New Community Facility

Community Facilities 
Benchmarking 
Aylesbury

Aylesbury has a small number 
of community facilities around 
the town centre where most are 
spread across the whole town. 
Discover Bucks museum is 
placed at the heart of the town 
centre exhibiting local cultural 
heritage and archaeological 
artefacts. 

The Queens Park Art Centre is on of the largest 
independent art centres in the UK.

Aylesbury Waterside Theatre is a new 1,200-person 
auditorium costing 42 million pounds whereas 
Limelight Theatre has a capacity of 120 seats.

5. Roman Park Hall
6. Aylesbury Railway Club
7. Aylesbury Literary Club
8. Aylesbury Opportunities Centre
9. Aylesbury Canal Society
10. Coldharbour Parish Council
11. Quarrendon Adult Learning Centre

  Leisure Facilities

1. Aylesbury Football Club
2. Little Kickers Aylesbury
3. Aylesbury Tennis, Squash, and Racketball Club
4. Aylesbury Rugby Football Club
5. Rugby Field
6. Foxhill Indoor Bowls Club
7. Roman Park & Play Area
8. Aylesbury Town Bowls Club
9. Reflexions Health & Leisure
10. Aqua Vale Swimming and Fitness Centre
11. Stoke Mandeville Stadium
12. Bierton Sports Centre
13. Rivets Sports & Social Club

  Youth Facilities         

1. Aylesbury Youth Club
2. Grange Youth Centre
3. Action4Youth
4. Youth Concern
5. Engage Youth Hub
6. Aylesbury Youth Action

  Worship Facilities (town centre)  

1. Aylesbury Vale Youth for Christ
2. St Mary’s Church

Note: School facilities have not been mapped out due 
to lack of information. 

Note: Facilities shown are within a 10-min drive 
catchment from the town centre. Facilities outside this 
area have not been mapped

We Made That 13Leighton Buzzard
Page 57



01.  Potential New Community Facility

500m0
N

Key

  Community Centres and Halls

   Heritage, Culture and Arts facilities   

  Other Facilities

  Leisure Facilities

  Youth Facilities

  Worship Facilities

 10-Min Drive Catchment

 Study Area Boundary

2

2

2
3

4

5

6

8

7

9 10

11

12

1

3

8

5

6

9

10

11

13

12

4

1
4

2

1

1
1

4

6

7

7

9

3

10

3

3

6

4

5

1

2

1

2

Aylesbury

We Made That 14Leighton Buzzard
Page 58



01.  Potential New Community Facility

Engagement Summary

As part of this study, the 
team has undertaken 2 online 
workshops with community 
groups and venues, 1-2-1 
discussions with officers and the 
Town Council as well as a digital 
survey to understand current 
issues and demand.

Online workshops

Online workshops have been integral to understanding 
the existing provision of community facilities and 
identifying any additional requirements. During the 
workshop, the team discussed about the operational 
requirements of each organisation/facility, the type 
of facilities missing from Leighton Buzzard and how 
a new facility might support or compete with each 
organisation.

The 2 online workshops took place in December 2022 
where 25 people attended from different community 
groups,  organisations or venues. A total of 67 
community groups and venues have been invited to 
participate in this process and should be part of future 
engagement. 

Digital survey

In parallel to the online workshops,a digital survey 
was launched, allowing those who were unable to 
join, to have their say. A total of 121 survey and email 
responses provided feedback on current and future 
demand.  

Contact list

The team worked to expand the contact list provided 
by the Council. An updated spreadsheet providing 
information around type, location and contact details 
for 44 community groups and 23 community venues 
has been issued separately to this document. 

2 online 
workshops 
with 
community 
groups and 
venues 

1-2-1 
discussions 
with CBC 
officers and 
the Town 
Council

120+ 
survey 
responses

We Made That 15Leighton Buzzard
Page 59



01.  Potential New Community Facility

Survey Findings

Top sections of demand

68% of the respondents 
believe that a multi-purpose 
community space is missing 
from Leighton Buzzard 

47.5% think that there’s a 
need for an exhibition space

36.8% say that a 
performance space is 
missing from the town centre

35.8% say that there’s a 
need for workshop/studio 
space

27.4% believe that there’s a 
need for a youth centre

27.4% believe that there’s a 
need for a rehearsal space

Condition 

66% say that the facility they 
use is in a good condition

Affordability

78.5% consider their venues 
affordable

Time of demand

35.5% need a space during 
weekday evenings and 
34.7% during weekday 
daytime, 12.5% during 
weekend daytime and 12.5% 
during weekday afternoon. 
33.7% find it easy to book a 
space whereas 34.7% think 
it depends on the day

Type of spaces needed

73.6% would like to 
have access to a flexible 
community space suitable 
for various activities

37.7% would like to have 
access to a kitchen

26.4% would like to have 
access to a meeting room(s)

15.1% would like to have 
access to a workshop/studio

They key survey findings 
reflecting current demand as 
well as people’s perception 
around affordability, condition of 
spaces and time of demand are 
summarised below. An extensive 
spreadsheet with all responses 
is shared separately to this 
document.

We Made That 16Leighton Buzzard
Page 60



01  Potential New Community Facility

What People Said During the 
Engagement Workshops

No large venues that can 
host 100+ during the day

Pages Park Pavilion is a 
great space but dirty and 
isolated at night. 

Linslade Memorial Hall is in 
a poor condition and Astral 
Park is expensive.

There’s a large number of 
artefacts and maps stored 
in people’s garages, sheds 
and lofts

Our table tennis club was 
unable to find a suitable 
venue in Leighton Buzzard

Hard to find suitable spaces 
in the town centre

Performance space is very 
limited, need to drive miles 
to enjoy art and culture

We’re lacking everything 
from tourist information to a 
conference hall

Need a permanent 
exhibition space/museum 
to display LB’s amazing 
history

We need somewhere 
people can go to get 
information about events 
and what places are 
available

We Made That 17Leighton Buzzard
Page 61



Buckingham Park Community 
Centre, Aylesbury Population: 
87,135 (2021)

The Stables, Wavendon, Milton 
Keynes 
Population: 287,000 (2021)

Chippenham Museum, 
Chippenham 
Population: 36,548 (2021)

Thomley, Worminghall 
Population: 583  (2021)

Queens Park Arts Centre, 
Aylesbury Population: 87,135 
(2021)

South Mill Arts, Bishop’s Stortford 
Population: 41,088 (2020)

The Rufus Centre, Flitwick 
Population: 36,548 (2021)

Petersfield Community Centre, 
Love Lane, Petersfield 
Population, 14,974 (2011)

01  Potential New Community Facility

Best-Practice Examples Mentioned 
During the Engagement Workshops

We Made That 18 Leighton Buzzard
Page 62



01  Potential New Community Facility

Key Takeaways 
from Research and 
Engagement

Gaps in provision

 – According to the ‘Central Bedfordshire 
Village Halls & Community Buildings Survey 
2017’, the borough has one community 
space per 1,754 Central Bedfordshire 
residents (ONS 2016). This means that 
Leighton Buzzard’s population of 42,392 
would require around 24 community spaces 
to match Bedfordshire’s provision. Against 
this metric, Leighton Buzzard is performing 
relatively well if the total number of halls, civic 
spaces, places of worship and schools that 
providing spaces for community activities 
are considered. However, there are specific 
types of spaces that are currently missing 
from the town centre.

 – Compared to the benchmark town centres, 
there is an underprovision of spaces for arts 
and culture.

 – There is no facility to display Leighton 
Buzzard’s history. The only facility related to 
heritage is Leighton Buzzard Railway. 

 – Performance spaces/venues are limited
 – There are no studio/gallery spaces for the 

artists where places for rehearsals are 
limited.

Scale

 – There are limited spaces that can host 100+ 
people. Brooklands Club can host up to 200 
people but it is not open during the day. The 
Recreation Rooms can host up to 120 and 
Astral Community Centre can host up to 100 
people.  

 – Library Theatre is the only performance 
space with a relatively limited capacity (170 
seats) when considered alongside to the 
comparator centres.

 – Community centres/halls in Leighton 
Buzzard range between 70-190sqm. 
According to CBC’s 2013 Leisure Facilities 
Strategy and survey, there’s an average of 
289sqm per hall. A medium to large-scale 
facility could be appropriate for Leighton 
Buzzard and would allow different activities 
to take place.

 – Stanbridge & Tilworth centre is the only 
medium-scale facility (375sqm) but it is far 
from the town centre.

Location

 – By comparison with the benchmark towns, 
there is a lack of community centres or halls 
within the town centre that could be reached 
via bus and cycle links

 – While there are various spaces and venues 
available in Leighton Buzzard, these are 
mainly clustered around Leighton Buzzard 
station and spread across the whole town.

 – People need to drive to other towns such as 
Milton Keynes or Aylesbury to enjoy concerts 
or screenings 

Availability

 – There are several leisure facilities and 
schools that offer spaces for community 
meetings and activities. Although, 
community groups are not always aware of 
what is available.

 – Scope to maximise the use of available 
facilities such as schools and places of 
worship outside their core function.

 – Users report a lack of coordination in 
managing community venues.

 – Peak demand is during weekday evenings 
and weekday daytime. Consideration should 
be given to providing additional capacity in 
the peak period to accommodate the full 
scope of demand. 

We Made That 19Leighton Buzzard
Page 63



A multi-purpose 
space that can 
host large-scale 
meetings and 
events 

An exhibition 
space to display  
Leighton Buzzard’s 
history 

A space for 
creative and 
cultural activities 

The Green Community 
Centre, Southwark: A new low 
energy multi-purpose space, 
built by the council, run by local 
residents on a significant site in 
a conservation area, that allows 
‘different people to do different 
activities in the same place at the 
same time’. 

Chippenham Museum and 
Heritage Centre, Chippenham:  
Housed in an eighteenth-century 
townhouse, it tells the fascinating 
story of this historic market 
town. It also hosts temporary 
exhibitions and a varied 
programme of walks, talks, family 
activities and events.

Sands End Arts and 
Community Centre, 
Southwark, Fulham: A creative 
Arts and Community Centre for 
Hammersmith & Fulham Council. 
The centre provides spaces for 
art exhibitions and community 
events with an ancillary café and 
children’s day nursery. 

02  Potential New Community Facility

What Is Missing from Leighton 
Buzzard 

We Made That 20 Leighton Buzzard
Page 64



Multi-purpose 
community 
space

A multi-purpose 
community space is 
a facility designed to 
provide the community 
with space for a 
variety of activities and 
services from social 
support to community 
events and exhibitions.

Exhibition 
space

An exhibition space 
is primarily used for 
the display or sale of 
works of art. They are 
often conceived as 
‘perfect’ spaces for the 
contemplation of 2D, 
3D and virtual art.

Range of floor area per unit

 – Small: 50m2 -100 people standing, 33 
seated, 25 workshop.

 – Medium: 100m2 - 200 people standing, 67 
seated, 50 workshop.

 – Large: 150m2 - 300 people standing, 100 
seated, 75 workshop.

 – Extra large: 200m2 - 400 people standing, 
133 seated, 100 workshop.

Floor to ceiling heights (internal dimensions)

 – Enhance floor to ceiling in large rooms to 
increase the potential range of functions, 
plan for projection/ presentation functions.

 – 4.5 - 6m height space beneficial.
 – Height to width ratio >0.6.

Interaction with the street

 – Suited to street activation.
 – Benefit from ground floor location where 

they are visible and benefit from good 
access and servicing.

 – Public entrances should be obvious and 
easily seen. Allowing for more than one way 
in to the building will support flexible use by 
multiple users at the same time.

 – The premises should have sufficient frontage 
to a road or open space to enable rapid 
dispersal of people from the premises in 
emergency.

Range of floor area per unit

 – Small: 100m2 -200 people standing, 67 
seated, 50 workshop,

 – 10x10=40 linear meters for display.
 – Medium: 150m2 -300 people standing, 100 

seated, 75 workshop,
 – 10x15=50 linear meters for display.
 – Large: 250m2 -500 people standing, 250 

seated, 167 workshop,
 – 20x12.5=65 linear meters for display.

Floor to ceiling heights (internal dimensions)

 – 3.5m (small gallery), 4.5m (medium gallery), 
6.3m (large gallery).

 – Height to width ratio >0.6.

Interaction with the street

 – Public entrances should be obvious and 
easily seen. Generally the entrances should 
be kept to a minimum subject to easy 
access.

 – Public circulation spaces within the 
building offer generous views in and out to 
communicate the life and the potential of the 
facility.

MULTI-
PURPOSE 

SPACE
[150m2]

EXHIBITION 
SPACE

[125m2]

S
TR

E
E

T
F

R
O

N
TA

G
E

02  Potential New Community Facility

Potential Typologies 
and Spatial 
Requirements 

We Made That 21Leighton Buzzard
Page 65



Rehearsal 
space

A rehearsal space is a 
soundproofed practice 
space used for music-
making, dancing, 
theatre & performance 
rehearsals, designed to 
keep sound inside and 
unwanted sound out. 

Studio space

A workspace for 
creative uses that 
may have additional 
spatial requirements 
above and beyond 
those of office-type 
work places. Generally 
provided within larger 
buildings to allow 
multiple managed 
units, forming a critical 
mass for operational 
purposes.

Range of floor area per unit

 – Individual studios range from 32-500m2.
 – Clear span spaces with a minimum 

clearance of 10 x 10m workspace for 
rehearsals.

Floor to ceiling heights (internal dimensions)

 – 2.9 -4.4m ceiling height.
 – Generally a minimum ceiling height of 3.5m is 

preferred.

Vehicle access

 – Provide a dedicated loading/ unloading 
access to the building with enough space for 
a rigid HGV circulation.

 – Transport for theatrical items will require 
access - these can range from transit vans 
up to 40ft articulated vehicles.

Interaction with the street

 – Majority of artists prefer spaces to be private 
and not public fronting.

 – Visibility of common areas and shared 
facilities more suited to street activation than 
individual rehearsal spaces.

Range of floor area per unit

 – Small studios: Individual studios range from 
11- 32m2.

 – Medium to large studios: Individual studios 
range from 32-500m2.

Floor to ceiling heights (internal dimensions)

 – 2.9 -4.4m ceiling height.
 – Generally a minimum ceiling height of 3.5m is 

preferred.

Vehicle access

 – Some operational parking required for 
moving of materials within studio.

 – Provide a dedicated loading/ unloading 
access to the building with enough space for 
a rigid HGV circulation.

Interaction with the street

 – Majority of artists prefer studios to be private 
and not public fronting.

 – Visibility of common areas and shared 
facilities more suited to street activation than 
individual studios.

CHANGING ROOMS
[15m2]

REHEARSAL SPACE
[125m2]

02  Potential New Community Facility

 
 

BREAK 
OUT 

SPACE
[50m2]

STUDIOS
[125m2]

We Made That 22Leighton Buzzard
Page 66



02  Potential New Community Facility

Floorspace 
Assumptions for 
Viability Testing 

Type of space Proposed NIA

Multi-purpose community 
space

200sqm

Kitchen/Storage 50sqm

Accessible toilets/ baby 
changing facilities

30sqm

Front of house area/
locker space

30sqm

Office Meeting rooms 20sqm

Exhibition space 150sqm

Storage 20sqm

Studio/rehearsal space 2x100sqm

Total 700sqm

Additional 60% to reach 
GIA

420

Total GIA for cost 
purposes

1120sqm

Type of space Proposed NIA

Multi-purpose community 
space

170sqm

Kitchen/Storage 15sqm

Accessible toilets/ baby 
changing facilities

15sqm

Total 200sqm

Additional 60% to reach 
GIA

120

Total GIA for cost 
purposes

320sqm

Option 2 
Medium-scale community facility

Option 1 
Large-scale community facility

The two tables below summarise the type of 
spaces and floorspace assumptions tested in the 
development scenarios and financial appraisals 
produced by Cushman & Wakefield. 

Option 1: An assumption for a larger-scale community 
facility that includes a multi-purpose space, Exhibition 
space and Studio/rehearsal space as well as ancillary 
spaces.

Option 2: An assumption for a medium-scale 
community facility including a multi-purpose hall and a 
kitchen together with ancillary spaces such as toilets 
and baby changing facilities.

We Made That 23Leighton Buzzard
Page 67



Relevant precedent: Sands End Arts and Community Centre, Southwark, Fulham

We Made That 24Leighton Buzzard
Page 68



02 Development
Options

Page 69



We Made That 26Leighton Buzzard
Page 70



02.  Development Options

Site Analysis 
Study area

STUDY AREA

 – AREA 1 
Post Office & Industrial Buildings 
2,690 sqm/ 0.27 ha

 – AREA 2 
MOT Garage & Rear of High Street Mews 
 1,421 sqm/ 0.14 ha

 – AREA 3 
Disused land south of High Street 
1,974 sqm/ 0.20 ha

 – AREA 4 
Land to rear of 40 High Street 
Former Cattle Market 
1,372 sqm/ 0.14 ha

 – AREA 5 
Duncombe Drive Car Park 
5,756 sqm/ 0.58 ha

 – AREA 6a 
Day Care Centre & Car Park 
2,886 sqm/ 0.29 ha

 – AREA 6b 
Westlands Care Home 
3,955 sqm/ 0.40 ha

 – AREA 7b 
6 & 7 Duncombe Drive  
2 post-war 2-storey houses 
651 sqm/ 0.07 ha

OTHER OPPORTUNITY SITES

 – SITE A 
Land rear of  no 40 High Street 
700 sqm/ 0.07 ha

 – SITE B 
Land rear of  no 4 Market Square, Cornells mews 
300 sqm/ 0.03 ha 

Land South of High Street 
comprises six distinct areas in 
the freehold ownership of Central 
Bedfordshire Council, plus an 
additional two areas that are 
privately owned.

Area 1 comprises the existing Post Office building and 
the land at the rear, which accommodates a disused 
sorting office and associated light industrial sheds. 

Area 2 comprises an MOT Garage and associated 
light industrial sheds.

Area 3 comprises a cleared previously developed site 
with areas of hard standing and vegetation which is 
currently disused.

Area 4 was formerly used as a Cattle Market now 
being used as a storage area and parking space for 
market traders. 

Area 5 comprises Duncombe Drive which is the main 
access road onto the site from Lake Street and the 
surface car park which comprises 139 parking spaces. 

Areas 6a and 6b accommodate a three-storey elderly 
persons care home (Westlands Care Home) and a 
single-storey elderly day centre which also provides 
rehabilitation services for people recently discharged 
from the hospital. Facilities in Areas 6a and 6b are to 
be relocated off-site during summer 2023.

Area 7b accommodates two post-war semi-detached 
privately owned dwellings.

Opportunity sites A&B are currently landlocked 
areas that could have a positive impact and increase 
development opportunities. These could unlock new 
vehicular/pedestrian routes connecting Duncombe 
Drive with Church Square, increase connections to 
high street and provide more open amenity spaces 
and parking. Proposals incorporating these areas 
would require acquisition or partnership working with 
their landowners.

We Made That 27Leighton Buzzard
Page 71



Gro
ve R

d

Lake St

N
or

th
 S

t

Duncombe D
r

Clipstone Brook

PARSON’S 
CLOSE 

RECREATION 
GROUND

C
hurch Square

Church Ave

Pulford R
d

High Street

Hockliffe St

Bridge St

West St

A
40

12

02.  Development Options

Gro
ve R

d

Lake St

N
or

th
 S

t

Duncombe D
r

Clipstone Brook

PARSON’S 
CLOSE 

RECREATION 
GROUND

C
hurch Square

Church Ave

Pulford R
d

High Street

Hockliffe St

Bridge St

West St

A
40

12

Key

  CBC owned land

  Privately owned sites within study area

  Privately owned opportunity sites 

 Recorded adopted highway

 Town Centre boundary

 Study Area boundary

Area 1
Area 2 Area 3

Area 4

Area 5

Area  
7b

Area 6a

Area 6b

A

B

0
N

100m

We Made That 28Leighton Buzzard
Page 72



The site is bounded to the north 
by the rear of properties fronting 
the High Street which are mainly 
in retail use at ground floor 
level. The southern boundary is 
bounded by the rear gardens of 
mature houses fronting Church 
Avenue and Parsons Close, 
a Victorian park with views 
extending across the river plain.

02.  Development Options

Site Analysis

Area 1, Industrial Buildings rear of Post Office

Area 4, Land to rear of 40 High Street, Former Cattle Market currently used by market traders

Area 2, MOT Garage

Backland opportunity site A, rear of  no 40 
High Street 

Backland opportunity site B

Area 3, Disused land south of High Street

We Made That 29 Leighton Buzzard
Page 73



02.  Development Options

Area 6b, Westlands Care Home

Area 6a, Day Care Centre

Area 7b, 2 post-war 2-storey houses Area 5, Duncombe Drive Car Park

Operational telecommunications building adjacent to Areas 6a&6b

Fire station adjacent to Area 7b

We Made That 30 Leighton Buzzard
Page 74



Key

  Primary shopping areas

  County Wildlife Sites (EE3)

  Greenbelt

 Leisure and open space copy

 Town Centre boundary

 Study Area boundary

Key

  Conservation area

  Listed buildings

  Scheduled monuments HE1

 Town Centre boundary

 Study Area boundary

Duncombe D
r

C
hurch 

Square

West St

High Street

Gro
ve R

d

PARSON’S 
CLOSE

Duncombe D
r

C
hurch 

Square
West St

High Street

Gro
ve R

d

PARSON’S 
CLOSE

500m0
N

Planning Policy Conservation and Heritage

02.  Development Options

Site Analysis 
Key policy

The site is partially located in the Conservation Area 
and will impact the setting of a number of Listed 
Buildings. Important views to the Church of All Saints 
should be framed and preserved from public spaces.

The map above illustrates the policy designations 
affecting the site and surrounding area. The site is 
partially located in the Town Centre which follows a 
traditional market town street layout with the main 
shopping area focussed along the linear High Street.

We Made That 31Leighton Buzzard
Page 75



500m0
N

Public Ownership Planning applications

Key

  CBC Assets

 CBC Registered land

  Housing team land

  Recorded adopted highway

 Town Centre boundary

 Study Area boundary

Key

  Planning applications

 Town Centre boundary

 Study Area boundary

Duncombe D
r

C
hurch 

Square

West St

High Street

Gro
ve R

d

PARSON’S 
CLOSE

Duncombe D
r

C
hurch 

Square
West St

High Street

Gro
ve R

d

PARSON’S 
CLOSE

02.  Development Options

Site Analysis 
Key ownerships and 
planning applications

1. CB/19/01241/FULL, 7-9 Church Square, (refused 
on 17th January 2020) 
This planning application was. Demolition of sorting 
offices to rear of retained Post Office building and 
redevelopment of site to provide two three-storey 
buildings providing 18 residential units, 686sqm 
of flexible Use Class (A1, A3, B1, D2) commercial 
floorspace at ground floor and associated cycle 
parking, landscaping and access

2. CB/22/00457/FULL, 46 High Street 
Demolition of the former telephone exchange and 
rear part of 46High Street. Erection of 3, 1 bed 
mews houses and 2, 1 bed flats. Conversion of first 
floor of the rear part of 46 High Street to a 1 bed flat.

3. CB/17/01613/FULL, LB Fire Station 
The erection of a single storey timber structure and 
alterations to car park to create additional parking. 
The purpose of the proposed building is to provide 
a Training Gymnasium Facility (Class D2) for 
maintaining staff fitness. 

1

2

3

There are several Council assets concentrated in and 
around the Town Centre. These include Areas 3,4,5 
6a&b, 7b of the study area as well as the land south 
of All Saints Church, Hockliffe Street car park and the 
shopping centre and multi-storey car park along West 
Street. 

We Made That 32Leighton Buzzard
Page 76



Land Use Parking

Key

  Residential

  Town Centre 

  Industrial/employment 

  Multi-storey car park

  Community and worship

  Education

  Leisure

  Outdoor sport

  Larger recreation spaces

  Childrens play space

 Town Centre boundary

 Study Area boundary

Key

  Surface car parks (publicly owned)

  Multi-storey car park

 Town Centre boundary

 Study Area boundary

02.  Development Options

Site Analysis 
Land uses

500m0
N

Duncombe D
r

C
hurch 

Square

West St

High Street

Gro
ve R

d

PARSON’S 
CLOSE

Duncombe D
r

C
hurch 

Square
West St

High Street

Gro
ve R

d

PARSON’S 
CLOSE

1. Duncombe Drive 
Number of standard bays: 139 
Disabled bay holders: 3 bays

2. Multi-storey (West Street) 
Number of standard bays: 266 
Disabled bay holders: 14 bays

3. Hockliffe Street 
Number of standard bays: 126 
Disabled bay holders: 2 bays

4. Waitrose/Waterborne Walk Centre 
Number of standard bays: c. 45

5. Additional Waitrose car park (customers only) 
Number of standard bays: c. 15

6. West Street surface car park 
Number of standard bays: c. 16

7. Bossard House Private Staff Car Park 
Number of standard bays: c.11

The site is bounded to the north by the rear of 
properties fronting the High Street which are mainly in 
retail use at ground floor level. The southern boundary 
is bounded by residential uses and Parson’s Close. 

1

2

3

6

4

7

5

We Made That 33Leighton Buzzard
Page 77



Key

  Cycle track

  On carriageway route

  Road / pedestrian network

 Town Centre boundary

 Study Area boundary

Key

  Community & worship facilities

  Leisure facilities

  Educational facilities

  Healthcare facilities

  Shopping facilities

 Town Centre boundary

 Study Area boundary

Cycling infrastructureKey facilities

02.  Development Options

Site Analysis 
Key infrastructure

500m0
N

Duncombe D
r

C
hurch 

Square

West St

High Street

Gro
ve R

d

PARSON’S 
CLOSE

Duncombe D
r

C
hurch 

Square
West St

High Street

Gro
ve R

d

PARSON’S 
CLOSE

3

There are several healthcare and shopping facilities 
close to the site due to the proximity to the town 
centre. A series of facilities including schools, Library 
Theatre, the Market as well as All Saint church are 
located just outside the study area.

The map shows the network of existing cycle routes 
and pedestrian networks through the study area and 
surroundings.

We Made That 34Leighton Buzzard
Page 78



Key

1. Black Lion alleyway

2. High Street Mews

3. 40 High St, Cittadina cafe back yard

4. 48 High St, HSBC mews

5. 4 Market Square, Cornells mews

6. Bell Alley

7. Rylands Mews

8. Alley between ‘The Picture House’ and ‘The Lancer’

9. Path connecting Duncombe Drive Car Park to Parson’s Close

10. Potential new connection to Parson’s Close

  Vehicular movement

  Through access alleyway

  Private alleyway / Potential new connections

  Recorded adopted highway

 Town Centre boundary

 Study Area boundary

Gro
ve R

d

Lake St

N
or

th
 S

t

Duncombe D
r

Clipstone Brook

PARSON’S 
CLOSE 

RECREATION 
GROUND

C
hurch Square

Church Ave

Pulford R
d

High Street

Hockliffe St

Bridge St

West St

A
40

12

1
2

3 4 5 6
7

8

9

10

02.  Development Options

Site Analysis 
Key connections

The map shows the key walking and cycling 
connections as well as the key vehicular movement. 
Vehicular access to Areas 1,2 and 3  is from Church 
Square whereas Areas 5-7b can be accessed 
via Duncombe Drive. The east part of the site is 
well connected to the high street through existing 
alleyways. Potential new connections are also 
highlighted below.

0
N

100m

We Made That 35Leighton Buzzard
Page 79



Rylands Mews (through access alleyway)

Path connecting Duncombe Drive Car Park 
to Parson’s Close

4 Market Square, Cornells mews (private alleyway)

High Street Mews (private alleyway)

Bell Alley (through access alleyway) 

40 High St, Cittadina cafe back yard 
(private alleyway)

We Made That 36 Leighton Buzzard
Page 80



Key

1. Shop or business premises of whatsoever kind or nature Cinema 

Picture House Theatre Music Hall or place of amusement whatsoever 

and would not carry on any noisesome or noxious trade or business

2. No Cinema, Picture House, Theatre, Music Hall or other place of 

amusement whatsoever

3. Restrictive covenant – no selling of intoxicating liquors

4. Restrictive covenant – no selling of intoxicating liquors

5. Restrictive covenant – no selling of intoxicating liquors

6. Charge – agreement “shall not preclude the purchaser from erecting 

buildings […] no less than 10 meters from the boundary”

  Right of way

  Restrictive Covenant

  Ownership within area

  Sub-station

 Town Centre boundary

 Study Area boundary

02.  Development Options

Site Analysis 
Key constraints

0
N

100m

Gro
ve R

d

Lake St

N
or

th
 S

t

Duncombe D
r

Clipstone Brook

PARSON’S 
CLOSE 

RECREATION 
GROUND

C
hurch Square

Church Ave

Pulford R
d

High Street

Hockliffe St

Bridge St

West St

A
40

12

Area 1
Area 2 Area 3

Area 4

Area 5

Area  
7b

Area 6a

Area 6b

1

3
4

5

2 6

There are several areas within the sites that 
are subject to restrictive covenants. These are 
summarised on the map below,and subject to land use 
proposals in the preferred development options may 
require further exploration.

We Made That 37Leighton Buzzard
Page 81



Areas 6a&b, Day Centre and Westlands Care Home

We Made That 38 Leighton Buzzard
Page 82



X.  Section title

Page title

02.  Development Options

Development 
Scenarios

The following 
pages explore 4 
distinct scenarios of 
development for the 
study area. 

The team has developed a series 
of different options for each 
area to provide quantification of 
gross areas, number and type 
of residential units, the quantum 
of public realm and number or 
parking spaces. 

These were shared with 
Cushman & Wakefields (CW) 
providing the floorspace 
schedules needed for the 
financial appraisals. 

The distribution of uses was 
based on the Council’s objective 

Areas 1 & 2 Areas 3 & 4 Areas 5 & 7b Areas 6a & 6b 

S
cenario 1

Hotel Residential 
 

Large-scale 
community facility

100% Public parking Residential
S

cenario 2

Residential Residential 50% Public parking 

 

Hotel

Residential 
 

Medium-scale 
community facility

S
cenario 3

Residential Residential Retail Convenience 

(incl. private parking)

Elderly living

S
cenario 4

Residential Residential 30% Public parking 
 

Large-scale 
community facility

Elderly living

for the site, CW’s Market 
Assessment Report (June 2022), 
WSP’s ongoing parking study, the 
market sector opportunities as 
well as the operator developer 
demand.

Scenario 1 is driven by the 
retention of 100% of the spaces 
in Duncombe Drive car park. 
This necessarily restricts 
development capacity across 
the site. It has been assumed that 
this option would be one of the 
most compatible with a hotel due 
to the need for visitor parking. A 
large-scale community facility is 
shown in Area 4.

Scenario 2 is driven by the 
retention of 50% of the spaces in 
Duncombe Drive car park. Hotel 
community uses are shown in 
Areas 5 & 6a, partially relying on 
the public car park. 

Scenario 3 is the only scenario 
with no car parking retention. 
A retail convenience store and 
associated parking are shown 
in Area 5 capitalising on the 
proximity to the high street. 
Elderly living units are placed in 
areas 6a & 6b facing Parson’s 
Ground park.

Scenario 4 is testing a 30% 
retention of Duncombe Drive 
Car Park based on the latest 
WSP parking study findings. A 
new community facility is shown 
in Area 5 capitalising on the 
proximity to the hight street. 
Elderly living units are placed in 
areas 6a & 6b facing Parson’s 
Ground park.

We Made That 39 Leighton Buzzard
Page 83



02.  Development Options

Scenario 1 

100% retention of  Duncombe Drive Car Park

Scenario 3 

No retention of  Duncombe Drive Car Park

Scenario 2 

50% retention of  Duncombe Drive Car Park

Scenario 4 

30% retention of  Duncombe Drive Car Park

Gro
ve R

d

Lake St

Duncombe D
r

PARSON’S CLOSE 
RECREATION 

GROUND

C
hurch S

quare

Church Ave

Pulford R
d

High Street

Gro
ve R

d

Lake St

Duncombe D
r

PARSON’S CLOSE 
RECREATION 

GROUND

C
hurch S

quare

Church Ave

Pulford R
d

High Street

Gro
ve R

d

Lake St

Duncombe D
r

PARSON’S CLOSE 
RECREATION 

GROUND

C
hurch S

quare

Church Ave

Pulford R
d

High Street
Gro

ve R
d

Lake St

Duncombe D
r

PARSON’S CLOSE 
RECREATION 

GROUND

C
hurch S

quare

Church Ave

Pulford R
d

High Street

Areas 1 & 2

Areas 3 & 4

Areas 5 & 7b

Area 6a 
& 6b

Areas 1 & 2

Areas 3 & 4

Areas 5 & 7b

Area 6a 
& 6b

Areas 1 & 2

Areas 3 & 4

Areas 5 & 7b

Area 6a 
& 6b

Areas 1 & 2

Areas 3 & 4

Areas 5 & 7b

Area 6a 
& 6b

Residential 

Community 
facility 

Residential   

Existing 
Residential   

Existing 
Residential   

Residential Residential 

Residential Residential Residential Residential 

Hotel

Elderly 
living

Elderly 
living

Residential   

Community 
facility   

Key

 Residential

 Community

 Hotel

 Retail

 Elderly living

 Study Area Boundary

50% Public 
parking 

 
Hotel

100% 
Public 

Parking

Retail 
Convenience 

Private 
parking

40 Public 
parking spaces

Community 
facility

We Made That 40Leighton Buzzard
Page 84



02.  Development Options

Development 
Scenarios 
Scenario 1

Church Ave

PARSON’S CLOSE 
RECREATION 

GROUND

D
un

co
m

be 
D

r

Lake St

High Stre
et

Pulford Rd

Areas 1 & 2

Areas 3 & 4

Areas 5 & 7b 

Area 6a 
& 6b

Key

 Residential

 Community

 Hotel

 Vehicular movement

 Pedestrian movement

 Potential new connections

 Study Area Boundary

 – 46 housing units (29 flats, 17 houses)
 – 80 bed hotel
 – 1300sqm Community Space
 – 139 public parking spaces (Duncombe 

Drive)
 – 195 private parking spaces 
 – 12,505sqm of public realm 

100% retention of  
Duncombe Drive 
Car Park

 – 46 housing units  
(29 flats, 17 houses)

 – 80-bed hotel
 – Large-scale (1120sqm) 

community facility
 – 139 public parking spaces 

(Duncombe Drive Car Park)
 – 195 private parking spaces*
 – 12,505sqm of public realm 

*This scenario has assumed 
the current minimum parking 
standards as defined in current 
policy (Central Bedfordshire 
Local Transport Plan: Appendix F 
Parking Strategy)

Pros

 – Development focus on 
currently disused sites may be 
less contentious locally

 – Hotel in close proximity to 
Church square and the high 
street

 – Community use adjacent to 
Duncombe Drive Car Park

 – Hotel and community use 
could diversify the offer of the 
high street

Cons

 – Restrictive covenant on Area 4 
may impact community facility 
uses 

 – Areas 1&2 should be 
consolidated to allow for a 80-
bed hotel

 – Hotel use might affect viability

We Made That 41 Leighton Buzzard
Page 85



02.  Development Options

Development 
Scenarios 
Scenario 2

Key

 Residential

 Community

 Hotel

 Vehicular movement

 Pedestrian movement

 Potential new connections

 Study Area Boundary

Church Ave

PARSON’S CLOSE 
RECREATION 

GROUND

D
un

co
m

be 
D

r

Lake St

High Stre
et

Pulford Rd

Areas 1 & 2

Areas 3 & 4

Areas 5 & 7b 

Area 6a 
& 6b

50% retention of  
Duncombe Drive 
Car Park

 – 74 housing units (53 flats, 21 
houses)

 – 80-bed hotel
 – Medium-scale (320sqm) 

community facility
 – 69 public parking spaces (50% 

Duncombe Drive Car Park)
 – 182 private parking spaces*
 – 12,538sqm of public realm 

*This scenario has assumed 
the current minimum parking 
standards as defined in current 
policy (Central Bedfordshire 
Local Transport Plan: Appendix F 
Parking Strategy)

Pros

 – Hotel in close proximity to the 
high street partially relying on 
the Duncombe Drive Car Park

 – Medium-scale community use 
adjacent to Duncombe Drive 
Car Park. 

 – Potential new active frontage 
along proposed route 
connecting Duncombe Drive 
to Parson’s close

 – Hotel and community use 
could diversify the offer of the 
high street

Cons

 – Sensitive adjacency 
between hotel and existing 
residential uses might cause  
overshadowing

 – Restrictive covenant on Area 
5 may impact potential ground 
floor uses associated with the 
hotel

 – Hotel use might affect viability

We Made That 42 Leighton Buzzard
Page 86



Key

 Residential

 Retail

 Elderly living

 Vehicular movement

 Pedestrian movement

 Potential new connections

 Study Area Boundary

Church Ave

PARSON’S CLOSE 
RECREATION 

GROUND

D
un

co
m

be 
D

r

Lake St

High Stre
et

Pulford Rd

Areas 1 & 2

Areas 3 & 4

Areas 5 & 7b 

Area 6a 
& 6b

02.  Development Options

Development 
Scenarios 
Scenario 3

No retention of  
Duncombe Drive 
Car Park

 – 87 housing units  
(14 flats, 13 houses, 60 
retirement units)

 – 1266sqm of retail space
 – 242 private parking 

spaces(incl. parking spaces for 
retail use)* 

 – 14,520sqm of public realm

*This scenario has assumed 
the current minimum parking 
standards as defined in current 
policy (Central Bedfordshire 
Local Transport Plan: Appendix F 
Parking Strategy)

Pros

 – Increased development 
capacity compared to 
scenarios 1 & 2 

 – Retail use could diversify the 
offer of the high street

 – Elderly living has the strongest 
Residual Land Value 
generated of all proposed uses

Cons

 – Restrictive covenant on Area 5 
may impact retail use

 – Risk for negative appraisal 
results as retail use lacks 
visibility 

We Made That 43 Leighton Buzzard
Page 87



Key

 Residential

 Community

 Elderly living

 Vehicular movement

 Pedestrian movement

 Potential new connections

 Study Area Boundary

Church Ave

PARSON’S CLOSE 
RECREATION 

GROUND

D
un

co
m

be 
D

r

Lake St

High Stre
et

Pulford Rd

Areas 1 & 2

Areas 3 & 4

Areas 5 & 7b 

Area 6a 
& 6b

02.  Development Options

Development 
Scenarios 
Scenario 4

30% retention of  
Duncombe Drive 
Car Park

 – 84 housing units  
(24 houses, 60 retirement 
units)

 – Large-scale (1120sqm) 
community facility

 – Partial retention of  Duncombe 
Drive Car Park (45 spaces)

 – 121 private parking spaces* 
 – 16,613sqm of public realm

*This scenario shows a less 
car-dependent scheme and has 
assumed a 20% reduction of the 
minimum parking standards due 
to proximity to the town centre 
(see Central Bedfordshire Local 
Transport Plan: Appendix F 
Parking Strategy) 

Pros

 – Less car-reliant option 
with more open space 
and enhanced pedestrian 
environment

 – Increased development 
capacity compared to 
scenarios 1 & 2

 – Elderly living has the strongest 
Residual Land Value 
generated of all proposed uses

 – Community facility placed 
at the heart of the site could 
diversify the offer of the high 
street

 – Potential new active frontage 
along the proposed diagonal 
route connecting the hight 
street to Parson’s close

Cons

 – Overall reduction of parking 
spaces might increase 
pressure on adjacent public 
parking

We Made That 44 Leighton Buzzard
Page 88



X.  Section title

Page title

02.  Development Options

Assessment Against 
Council’s Objectives 

The following table provides a 
high-level assessment of each 
scenario against the Council’s 
objectives. 

The council’s objectives are split into 3 themes: 

 – Scheme objectives
 – Financial Objectives 
 – Delivery objectives 

Based on this appraisal, it appears that Scenarios 3 
and 4 align most closely with the Council objectives. 
Given that Scenario 4 includes a community facility 
and retains some parking, this is likely to be a 
favourable option to explore further.

Key

 Good performance

 Some concerns

 Serious concerns

We Made That 45Leighton Buzzard
Page 89



Council’s Objectives Scenario 1 
 
100% 
retention of  
Duncombe 
Drive Car 
Park

Scenario 2  
 
50% 
retention of  
Duncombe 
Drive Car 
Park

Scenario 3  
 
No 
retention of 
Duncombe 
Drive Car 
Park

Scenario 4 
 
30% 
retention of  
Duncombe 
Drive Car 
Park

S
chem

e objectives

To deliver development on the 
site that complements and 
strengthens the performance of 
the town centre overall

To consider all potential use 
options but likely focus on a mixed 
use outcome with residential, 
commercial and leisure aspects

To understand the realistic and 
deliverable use options and to rule 
out the “pipedreams”

To deliver social, environmental 
and economic benefits as a 
priority to support the residents of 
Leighton Buzzard

Financial objectives

To achieve a viable, deliverable 
scheme – limited/no Council 
revenue funding available

To secure a financial return for the 
Council where possible

D
elivery objectives

To work with other landowners and 
stakeholders to develop proposals 
for the site – could acquire third 
party landholdings if needed/
beneficial

To deliver development in a timely 
manner, phased if necessary with 
quick win opportunities where 
possible

01.  Wider area

 

We Made That 46Leighton Buzzard
Page 90



X.  Section title

Page title
Conclusions 
and next 
steps 

Potential New Community 
Facility 
 
 
What type of facilities are missing from 
Leighton Buzzard?

While there are various spaces and venues 
available in Leighton Buzzard, they are generally 
small and located outside the town centre. 
Comparison with benchmark town centres, 
showed that there is an underprovision of 
spaces for arts and culture where Library 
Theatre is the only performance space with a 
relatively limited capacity (170 seats). 

Facilities for tourist information and spaces to 
display Leighton Buzzard’s history are missing 
and the only facility related to heritage is 
Leighton Buzzard Railway. Spaces that can host 
150+ people are also limited. 

What kind of spaces do people want to see 
in Leighton Buzzard?

Given the feedback from the consultation, it 
appears that there’s a great demand for the 
following spaces: a multi-purpose community 
space that can host large-scale meetings, 
events and performances, a permanent 
exhibition space to display Leighton Buzzard’s 
history, workshop/studio/rehearsal spaces for 
professional artists and groups and small-scale 
meeting rooms.

What are the potential threats?

Supporting and funding a medium or large-
scale community facility with a modest 
population can be challenging for Central 
Bedforshire Council. 

Finding suitable operators for charitable or 
community uses could be challenging. The type 
and size of the facility should also be carefully 
considered to avoid potential competition with 
existing venues.

What are the key opportunities? 
 
A new adaptable community facility providing 
a range of spaces including an events space/
hall, cafe, meeting rooms, rehearsal and a 
permanent exhibition space to celebrate 
Leighton Buzzard’s history. 

This facility could diversify the offer of the 
high street, facilitate new encounters, build 
community cohesion and is accessible to 
everyone. It can also offer revenue-generating 
opportunities by operating a cafe or hiring 
spaces for classes and private functions.

Better communication and management 
of existing spaces in schools and places of 
worship can also reduce the pressure on 
facilities that are at capacity.

The following pages summarise 
the key takeaways of this study 
and suggest the next steps 
to help refine the Council’s 
proposition for the site.  

We Made That 47Leighton Buzzard
Page 91



Development options

 
A series of different options have been tested 
in order to understand the development 
potential of the Land South of High Street. 
The team has developed detailed schedules 
for the quantification of gross areas, number 
and type of residential units, the quantum of 
public realm and number or parking spaces 
for further viability testing. These were shared 
with Cushman & Wakefields (CW) providing 
the floorspace schedules needed for the 
financial appraisals. Scenarios are driven by 
the number of car parking spaces retained at 
Duncombe Drive Car Park. The following uses 
have been tested based on the market sector 
opportunities and the operator developer 
demand:

 – Residential / Elderly living
 – Community
 – Retail
 – Hotel

Initial market assessment revealed that 
Scenarios 1 & 2 have negative results due to the 
hotel use. Scenarios 3 & 4 aligns most closely 
with the Council objectives. Given that Scenario 
4 includes a community facility and retains 
some parking, this is likely to be a favourable 
option to explore further.

What are the potential threats?

 – Back-of-high-street location and lack of 
visibility might affect interest of potential 
operators.

 – Pressure on adjacent parking spaces due to 
the reduction of spaces in Duncombe Drive 
Car Park.

 – Public Car Park reduction might affect the 
current operation (i.e. storage and parking 
needs) of market traders. 

 – Increased traffic due to new development.
 – Early development phases might affect the 

viability of later stages.

Next steps

 
What should be done next?

This study explores the gaps in community 
facilities provision, net requirements and 
current demand for such spaces. The 
development options for Scenarios 1-4  
are indicative and have been used for the 
development appraisal testing produced by 
Cushman & Wakefield. A series of next steps 
have are suggested below to help refine the 
Council’s proposition for the site. Central 
Bedfordshire Council should: 

 – Liaise with the Town Council and create a 
holistic vision for the site.

 – Work closely with engaged local community 
groups and organisations to understand 
current interest and catalyse long-term 
participation. 

 – Proceed with further interrogation and 
feasibility work to establish deliverability.

 – Consider alternative delivery models, other 
funding opportunities and income streams.

 – Safeguard part of the site for community use.

We Made That 48Leighton Buzzard
Page 92



London

Unit 21 Tower Workshops 
58 Riley Road 
London SE1 3DG

+44 (0)20 7252 3400

 
Manchester

Jactin House 
24 Hood Street  
Ancoats 
Manchester M4 6WX

+44 (0)161 9743206 

studio@wemadethat.co.uk 
wemadethat.co.uk

We Made That LLP is registered 
in England and Wales.  
Reg no. OC367789

WeMadeThat LLP is registered 
in England and Wales.  
Reg no. OC367789Page 93

mailto:studio%40wemadethat.co.uk%20?subject=
http://wemadethat.co.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 94



1/3/23, 3:24 PM260_Leighton Buzzard_Community facilities survey

Page 1 of 19https://3mn9jevui5y.typeform.com/report/Jds6Bz3p/3jfdX5B91pjls35B?view_mode=print

260_Leighton Buzzard_Community facilities
survey
113 responses

Page 95



1/3/23, 3:24 PM260_Leighton Buzzard_Community facilities survey

Page 2 of 19https://3mn9jevui5y.typeform.com/report/Jds6Bz3p/3jfdX5B91pjls35B?view_mode=print

How do you engage with community spaces in Leighton Buzzard?

113 

I participate in a community group/organisation 99 resp. 87.6%

I manage/run a community venue 12 resp. 10.6%

Other 17 resp. 15%

Run a community arts group

Keen supporter of community groups

Heritage Rail;way poeration

out of 113 answered

Page 96



1/3/23, 3:24 PM260_Leighton Buzzard_Community facilities survey

Page 3 of 19https://3mn9jevui5y.typeform.com/report/Jds6Bz3p/3jfdX5B91pjls35B?view_mode=print

What type of spaces do you currently use?

103 

Hall or other space suitable for activities 95 resp. 92.2%

Parking spaces 72 resp. 69.9%

Accessible toilets 66 resp. 64.1%

Kitchen 60 resp. 58.3%

Meeting room(s) 45 resp. 43.7%

Storage 18 resp. 17.5%

Cafe/Bar 17 resp. 16.5%

Baby changing facilities 16 resp. 15.5%

Outdoor sports pitches & courts 10 resp. 9.7%

out of 113 answered

Page 97



1/3/23, 3:24 PM260_Leighton Buzzard_Community facilities survey

Page 4 of 19https://3mn9jevui5y.typeform.com/report/Jds6Bz3p/3jfdX5B91pjls35B?view_mode=print

Changing room 8 resp. 7.8%

Workshop/studio space 8 resp. 7.8%

O!ice space 6 resp. 5.8%

Garden area/Equipped playground 5 resp. 4.9%

Cycle racks 1 resp. 1%

Other 8 resp. 7.8%

worship spaces

Canal festival

Local museum and exhibition space

Page 98



1/3/23, 3:24 PM260_Leighton Buzzard_Community facilities survey

Page 5 of 19https://3mn9jevui5y.typeform.com/report/Jds6Bz3p/3jfdX5B91pjls35B?view_mode=print

What type of spaces would you like to have access to?

106 

Hall or other space suitable for activities 78 resp. 73.6%

Kitchen 40 resp. 37.7%

Accessible toilets 38 resp. 35.8%

Parking spaces 33 resp. 31.1%

Meeting room(s) 28 resp. 26.4%

Workshop/studio space 16 resp. 15.1%

More storage space 15 resp. 14.2%

Cafe/Bar 11 resp. 10.4%

Garden area/Equipped playground 8 resp. 7.5%

out of 113 answered

Page 99



1/3/23, 3:24 PM260_Leighton Buzzard_Community facilities survey

Page 6 of 19https://3mn9jevui5y.typeform.com/report/Jds6Bz3p/3jfdX5B91pjls35B?view_mode=print

Outdoor sports pitches & courts 5 resp. 4.7%

O!ice space 3 resp. 2.8%

Changing room 2 resp. 1.9%

Baby changing facilities 1 resp. 0.9%

Cycle racks 1 resp. 0.9%

Other 7 resp. 6.6%

Indoor tennis facilities

indoor tennis courts

Museum

Page 100



1/3/23, 3:24 PM260_Leighton Buzzard_Community facilities survey

Page 7 of 19https://3mn9jevui5y.typeform.com/report/Jds6Bz3p/3jfdX5B91pjls35B?view_mode=print

When do you usually need a space for your activities?

104 

Weekday daytime 36 resp. 34.6%

Weekend daytime 13 resp. 12.5%

Weekday a"ernoon 12 resp. 11.5%

Weekend a"ernoon 0 resp. 0%

Other 43 resp. 41.3%

Evening

Weekday Evening

Weekday Evening

out of 113 answered

Page 101



1/3/23, 3:24 PM260_Leighton Buzzard_Community facilities survey

Page 8 of 19https://3mn9jevui5y.typeform.com/report/Jds6Bz3p/3jfdX5B91pjls35B?view_mode=print

Do you find it easy to book a space for your activities?

101 

It depends on the day 35 resp. 34.7%

Easy 34 resp. 33.7%

Di!icult 20 resp. 19.8%

Other 12 resp. 11.9%

Depends on day and type of event, parking and accessibility big issue, plus ability to

make mess

Don't normally need to book

Easy if we are well in advance, especially for the Lib. Theatre

out of 113 answered

Page 102



1/3/23, 3:24 PM260_Leighton Buzzard_Community facilities survey

Page 9 of 19https://3mn9jevui5y.typeform.com/report/Jds6Bz3p/3jfdX5B91pjls35B?view_mode=print

What do you think about the hire fees of your venue?

93 

They are a!ordable 73 resp. 78.5%

They are expensive 20 resp. 21.5%

What is the current state of the community building(s) you use?

104 

Good condition 69 resp. 66.3%

Average condition 34 resp. 32.7%

Poor condition 1 resp. 1%

out of 113 answered

out of 113 answered

Page 103



1/3/23, 3:24 PM260_Leighton Buzzard_Community facilities survey

Page 10 of 19https://3mn9jevui5y.typeform.com/report/Jds6Bz3p/3jfdX5B91pjls35B?view_mode=print

What type of community facilities do you think are missing from
Leighton Buzzard?

106 

Multi-purpose community space 72 resp. 67.9%

Exhibition space 50 resp. 47.2%

Performance space 39 resp. 36.8%

Workshop/studio space 38 resp. 35.8%

Youth centre 29 resp. 27.4%

Rehearsal space 28 resp. 26.4%

Community kitchen 27 resp. 25.5%

Training centre/ learning space 24 resp. 22.6%

Co-working space 11 resp. 10.4%

out of 113 answered

Page 104



1/3/23, 3:24 PM260_Leighton Buzzard_Community facilities survey

Page 11 of 19https://3mn9jevui5y.typeform.com/report/Jds6Bz3p/3jfdX5B91pjls35B?view_mode=print

Job centre & employment support 6 resp. 5.7%

Nursery/ crèche 1 resp. 0.9%

Other 21 resp. 19.8%

Running Track or similar

Indoor court and panel court

Museum and gallery space

Page 105



1/3/23, 3:24 PM260_Leighton Buzzard_Community facilities survey

Page 12 of 19https://3mn9jevui5y.typeform.com/report/Jds6Bz3p/3jfdX5B91pjls35B?view_mode=print

What is the current state of your community building?

5 

Good condition 4 resp. 80%

Average condition 1 resp. 20%

Poor condition 0 resp. 0%

out of 113 answered

Page 106



1/3/23, 3:24 PM260_Leighton Buzzard_Community facilities survey

Page 13 of 19https://3mn9jevui5y.typeform.com/report/Jds6Bz3p/3jfdX5B91pjls35B?view_mode=print

When is there more demand for your venue?

4 

Weekday daytime 4 resp. 100%

Weekday a"ernoon 0 resp. 0%

Weekend a"ernoon 0 resp. 0%

Weekend daytime 0 resp. 0%

Other 0 resp. 0%

out of 113 answered

Page 107



1/3/23, 3:24 PM260_Leighton Buzzard_Community facilities survey

Page 14 of 19https://3mn9jevui5y.typeform.com/report/Jds6Bz3p/3jfdX5B91pjls35B?view_mode=print

Is it easy for people/community groups to book a space at your
venue?

5 

People/community groups find it easy to book our space 5 resp. 100%

We have a waiting list due to limited space 0 resp. 0%

Other 0 resp. 0%

What type of spaces does your venue o!er?

5 

Accessible toilets 5 resp. 100%

Hall or other space suitable for activities 5 resp. 100%

Kitchen 5 resp. 100%

out of 113 answered

out of 113 answered

Page 108



1/3/23, 3:24 PM260_Leighton Buzzard_Community facilities survey

Page 15 of 19https://3mn9jevui5y.typeform.com/report/Jds6Bz3p/3jfdX5B91pjls35B?view_mode=print

Baby changing facilities 4 resp. 80%

Changing room 4 resp. 80%

Parking spaces 4 resp. 80%

Cycle racks 3 resp. 60%

Storage 3 resp. 60%

Garden area/Equipped playground 2 resp. 40%

Outdoor sports pitches & courts 2 resp. 40%

Meeting room(s) 1 resp. 20%

O!ice space 1 resp. 20%

Workshop/studio space 1 resp. 20%

Cafe/Bar 0 resp. 0%

Other 0 resp. 0%

Page 109



1/3/23, 3:24 PM260_Leighton Buzzard_Community facilities survey

Page 16 of 19https://3mn9jevui5y.typeform.com/report/Jds6Bz3p/3jfdX5B91pjls35B?view_mode=print

What type of spaces do you think are missing from your venue?

5 

Cafe/Bar 3 resp. 60%

O!ice space 3 resp. 60%

Workshop/studio space 3 resp. 60%

Meeting room(s) 1 resp. 20%

More storage space 1 resp. 20%

Parking spaces 1 resp. 20%

Accessible toilets 0 resp. 0%

Baby changing facilities 0 resp. 0%

out of 113 answered

Page 110



1/3/23, 3:24 PM260_Leighton Buzzard_Community facilities survey

Page 17 of 19https://3mn9jevui5y.typeform.com/report/Jds6Bz3p/3jfdX5B91pjls35B?view_mode=print

Changing room 0 resp. 0%

Cycle racks 0 resp. 0%

Garden area/Equipped playground 0 resp. 0%

Hall or other space suitable for activities 0 resp. 0%

Kitchen 0 resp. 0%

Outdoor sports pitches & courts 0 resp. 0%

Other 0 resp. 0%

What type of community facilities do you think are missing from
Leighton Buzzard?

4 out of 113 answered

Page 111



1/3/23, 3:24 PM260_Leighton Buzzard_Community facilities survey

Page 18 of 19https://3mn9jevui5y.typeform.com/report/Jds6Bz3p/3jfdX5B91pjls35B?view_mode=print

Multi-purpose community space 4 resp. 100%

Youth centre 4 resp. 100%

Exhibition space 3 resp. 75%

Performance space 3 resp. 75%

Rehearsal space 3 resp. 75%

Co-working space 0 resp. 0%

Community kitchen 0 resp. 0%

Job centre & employment support 0 resp. 0%

Nursery/ crèche 0 resp. 0%

Training centre/ learning space 0 resp. 0%

Workshop/studio space 0 resp. 0%

Page 112



1/3/23, 3:24 PM260_Leighton Buzzard_Community facilities survey

Page 19 of 19https://3mn9jevui5y.typeform.com/report/Jds6Bz3p/3jfdX5B91pjls35B?view_mode=printPage 113



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 114



 

TECHNICAL NOTE 2 

DATE: 06 March 2023 CONFIDENTIALITY: Confidential 

SUBJECT: Car Park Usage Analysis 

PROJECT: Town Centre Car Park Study AUTHOR: MT 

CHECKED: RP APPROVED: OM 

 

Page 1 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Central Bedfordshire Council (CBC) is considering developing the Duncombe Drive car park located in 

Leighton Buzzard. This will mean a reduction in the number of available off-street parking spaces the council 

is able to offer in the town centre. In order to ensure there remains sufficient capacity to accommodate 

vehicles in the remaining car parks a study was undertaken to determine current use of all the CBC operated 

car parks in Leighton Buzzard. 

In tandem with the parking data analysis exercise, a weeklong, snapshot parking survey was undertaken at 

each car park location using Automatic Number Plate Recognition Cameras (A.N.P.R.). The cameras 

recorded the vehicle registration upon entry to the car park and recorded the length of stay until the vehicle 

registration was recorded leaving the car park. This data was used to compare with the findings of the ticket 

sales analysis. 

The primary focus of the study was to analyse car park ticket sales and mobile phone payment data from the 

previous three full financial years, April to March inclusive: 

• 2019/20 

• 2020/21 

• 2021/22 

The purpose of this exercise was to identify car park usage prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, car park usage 

during the proceeding months of lock down and extended social distancing and the car park usage following 

the end of the pandemic restrictions. 

The ticket sales data analysis concentrated on the three car parks where parking charges are in operation: 

Duncombe Drive, Hockcliffe Street and West Street Multi Storey Car Park. Duncombe Drive and Hockcliffe 

Street operate as Pay & Display car parks whilst West Street operates as a pay on foot car park. 

CBC supplied all ticket sales data for the three years which were analysed for duration of stay, for the pay 

and display car parks the length of stay was determined by the paid for amount of the transaction, whilst for 

the West Street car park the data indicated the specific length of stay for each transaction. 

The ticket sales data was also input into an accumulation table which totalled the number of vehicles arriving 

in the car park in a period with those remaining from preceding periods, based upon the tariff paid for, this 

exercise helped to determine the number of transactions registered over a day, week, month and year. 

Using the various data sets the following outcomes and findings have been identified. 

  

Page 115



 

 

Page 2 
 

Conclusions and Recommendations 

The ticket sales data indicates that demand for spaces in Leighton Buzzard’s car parking sites has not 

returned to pre-pandemic levels, with a sustained reduction in the usage of the West Street Multi-Storey car 

park. 

Of the three car parks, Duncombe Drive has recovered the most towards pre-pandemic usage levels, as well 

as recording the greatest turnover of spaces. This presents a situation where, were those purchasing tickets 

to stay for the full duration allowed demand for spaces at the site would exceed capacity for several days 

each year. However, due to the reduction in demand at West Street (and to a lesser extent Hockliffe Street) 

2021-2022 shows a degree of capacity being available across all three car parks even when Duncombe Drive 

would potentially be fully occupied. This is supported by the ANPR snapshot where the peak in vehicle 

accumulation is circa 80% of total capacity.  

Review of the ANPR data and the long-term ticket sale trends between 2019 and 2022 shows that, whilst 

parking demand has been recovering since the Pandemic, there is a degree of reserve capacity available, 

with the ANPR showing circa 20% of all spaces available even in the busy December period. 

Figure A on the following page shows the relationship between car park occupancy recorded in the 2022 

ANPR survey and the proposed parking allocation on the Duncombe Drive site. 

CBC propose to reduce parking on the site by 97 spaces, the data analysis supports this proposal, based on 

the peak occupancy levels identified through the ticket sales analysis and ANPR camera surveys this will 

leave circa 24 spaces available in the car parks at the busiest periods. 

Whilst the ANPR survey was just a one-week snapshot, it took place during a busy period (immediately pre-

Christmas). The demand recorded also compared well against the demand recorded over a similar period in 

the ticket survey data review. As such, it makes a robust basis for this appraisal. 

Eliminating capacity at Duncombe Drive entirely may put the remaining facilities at just over full occupancy 

for short periods on the busiest day of the week (Tuesday). However, the town centre’s car parks would still 

operate largely without issue throughout the week. If some provision remained within Duncombe Drive car 

park, that would assist the overall capacity within the town centre and increase confidence levels of managing 

peaks in demand that may occasionally arise, but it would not necessarily be required.  

To facilitate a smooth reduction in parking capacity in the Duncombe Drive car park of any volume, the 

Council would benefit from considering parallel measures to better enable alternative modes of travel to the 

town centre to reduce the demand for parking while continuing to support the town centre economy as set 

out in the Local Plan. 

Strategic Objective 09 (“SO09”) (CBC Local Plan 2015-2035) – Reduce the reliance on the use of the car 

by improving facilities at bus and train stations, delivering transport interchanges and by promoting safe and 

sustainable forms of transport, such as improved walking and cycling routes. 

  

Page 116



 

 

Page 3 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure A: Parking Accumulation Against Space Provision Under Duncombe Drive Scenarios 

Ticket Sales Data 

Of the three car parks in the study, West Street MSCP has been the most impacted by the pandemic, with 

ticket sales 44% less in 2021-2022 than they were in 2019-2020. January 2022 was the closest to pre-

pandemic usage levels at -28% occupancy rate against that of 2020. 

Duncombe Drive shows a stronger recovery from the pandemic than the West Street MSCP. Ticket sales are 

14% less than the 2019-2020 in 2021-2022. In some periods, particularly September – November 2021, the 

number of tickets sold were between 1 and 7% of those for 2019, with the annual figure likely impacted by 

the ‘firebreak’ that took place in December 2021. 

Ticket sales at Hockliffe Street in 2021/22 generally remain below the level recorded for the equivalent period 

in 2019/2022, with annual sales being 14% less (the same as Duncombe Drive). However, in October 2021 

sales were 2% greater than October 19, whilst November 2021 sales were within 4% of their pre pandemic 

levels. 

The majority of ticket sales in the West Street car park are for up to 1 hour, making 45-48% of annual sales. 

Up to 2 Hours makes up 22-27% of annual sales, whilst up to 3 Hours makes up 17-18%. Whole day tickets 

are least common, making 3% of sales, or 4% if the reduced tariff Sunday whole day tickets are included. 

Most tickets sold in Duncombe Drive are for periods of Up to 2 Hours, making 76-77% of sales in 2019-2020 

and 2021-2022, with 3-hour tickets making up 11-14%. In the same periods, Day Tickets made 2% of sales, 

whilst week tickets made up 1%. 

Hockcliffe Street ticket sales data for 2019-2020 and 2021-2022 the majority of tickets sold are for periods 

up to one hour (39-44%), then up to two hours (23-25%). Day and Week tickets are slightly more prevalent 

at Hockliffe Street than Duncombe Drive, forming 4% and 1-2% of sales respectively. 

 

474
433

595

498

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

0
:0

0

4
:0

0

8
:0

0

1
2

:0
0

1
6

:0
0

2
0

:0
0

0
:0

0

4
:0

0

8
:0

0

1
2

:0
0

1
6

:0
0

2
0

:0
0

0
:0

0

4
:0

0

8
:0

0

1
2

:0
0

1
6

:0
0

2
0

:0
0

0
:0

0

4
:0

0

8
:0

0

1
2

:0
0

1
6

:0
0

2
0

:0
0

0
:0

0

4
:0

0

8
:0

0

1
2

:0
0

1
6

:0
0

2
0

:0
0

0
:0

0

4
:0

0

8
:0

0

1
2

:0
0

1
6

:0
0

2
0

:0
0

0
:0

0

4
:0

0

8
:0

0

1
2

:0
0

1
6

:0
0

2
0

:0
0

Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday Sunday

Data Analysis Scenario Chart - Leighton Buzzard

Total Parking Demand

Current Town Centre Parking Capacity

Capacity with Council Proposed Spaces Duncombe Drive (42)

Page 117



 

 

Page 4 
 

Turnover of Parking Spaces 

Turnover was calculated by dividing hourly ticket purchases against the number of spaces present in each 

car park. In periods where this was over 1, each space at a given car park would have, on average, been 

used more than once. 

Of the three car parks, Duncombe Drive is the only one where this occurs, with 138 instances in 2019-2020 

and 66 in 2021-2022. This most commonly occurs on Saturdays, then Tuesday, which are both market days.  

The high turnover recorded here, in conjunction with most tickets prior to 2022 being in the one-two hour 

ranges, makes a case that the majority of those using the sites are staying for less than the full period. This 

makes it significant that the April 2022 tariff review introduced a 30 minute tariff which could cater for this 

demand.  

Duncombe Drive records the largest number of periods where potential accumulation exceeds the number 

of spaces available, both pre and post pandemic. Hockliffe Street also records a significant number of periods 

where accumulation theoretically could have exceeded capacity, however there was a marked reduction in 

such instances between 2019-2020 (1,585 periods over capacity) and 2021-2022 (387 periods over 

capacity). 

ANPR Camera Survey 

For Duncombe Drive, the survey indicated that the busiest day of the week is Saturday, where the number 

of vehicles present on site reach 92% of the total vehicle capacity1, whilst exceeding the capacity of the 

general spaces (65). The busiest period on Saturday is between 10:00-14:00. There is also a secondary peak 

in demand on Saturday evening, likely catering to evening activities. This sees vehicles present reach 60% 

of the overall capacity available. 

This is followed by Tuesday and Friday, where demand reaches 74-75% of total capacity between 13:00-

14:00. 

Hockliffe Street shows a different demand pattern to Duncombe Drive. On Weekdays, most vehicles arrive 

before 09:00, with the number of vehicles present falling away slowly across the day. This suggests a mixture 

of employment related trips and leisure trips, with the former arriving earlier and staying longer whilst the 

latter turn over. The demand peak in the evening of maximum Weekday demand occurs on Friday. This is 

similar to the Saturday evening peak observed at Duncombe Drive and likely reflects evening trips out for 

leisure purposes. 

There is also a similar Saturday evening peak shown at Hockliffe Street. It is notable that the accumulation 

of vehicles exceeds the general car parking capacity in this period, as it would be reasonable to think most 

of the leisure demand would be associated with general parking spaces, rather than commuter permits. 

Saturday’s primary accumulation period is longer than during the week, with 70-80% of spaces occupied from 

09:00-15:00. In conjunction with the duration of stay information and the ticket sales, this likely represents a 

rapid turnover of cars, rather than vehicles parking for a prolonged period. 

Demand at West Street during the week peaks between 10:00 and 12:00, with Tuesday being the busiest 

weekday and recording 85% occupancy of all spaces. 

Saturday is considerably quieter at this site compared to the Pay & Display car parks sites, with occupancy 

peaking at 60% of total spaces. 

 
1 Including Market Trader, Disabled and Permit Bays. Page 118



 

 

Page 5 
 

Baker Street allows vehicles to park for no charge, but for a maximum of two hours. This will encourage a 

high level of turnover across the day, reflected in the duration of stay data.  

Despite this, the site’s occupancy exceeded 75% of spaces between 09:00-11:00 and 14:00-16:00 on most 

weekdays, as well as 09:00-16:00 inclusive on Friday. Tuesday and Friday are the busiest weekdays at this 

site. 

Of the weekend, Saturday and Sunday also record high levels of occupancy in certain periods; 09:00-13:00 

on Saturday and 14:00-17:00 on Sunday. 

New Road is a small car park with only 10 spaces, the data shows 80% regularly throughout the survey, with 

Tuesday being the busiest day. This site is unusual in that most high occupancy periods are later in the day, 

from 17:00-00:00, particularly Monday-Wednesday.  

Demand reduces at the weekend, moving to 60% of total spaces available at most.  

Parking Income 

To support the transactional data a review of the car park income was also undertaken, the income review 

details the pre, during and post pandemic periods. 

The findings indicate the Revenue generated by the car parks has declined 26% between 2019-2020 and 

2021-2022, with the largest drop being recorded at West Street. As in 2019-2020 the MSCP was the largest 

revenue generator, this has had a disproportionate impact on the overall revenue. 

The shifts in revenue broadly follow the ticket sales in quantity, the analysis does show that Hockliffe Street 

generates more Revenue per ticket sold as, despite lower ticket sales than Duncombe Drive, the revenues 

are broadly similar. One possible reason for this is that, during the study period, Duncombe Drive charged 

£1 for up to 2 hours, whilst Hockliffe Street charged £1 for up to 1 hour and £1.50 for up to 2 hours. As the 

up to 2 Hour Tariff forms a large portion of sales, this makes for a significant shift. This might change after 

the April 2022 tariff review which standardised a £1.50 tariff for 1 hour and £2 for 2 hours, across all sites. 

Further analysis of the income data, reflecting the high turnover of spaces recorded there, Duncombe Drive 

consistently reports the greatest revenue per parking space, despite most tickets sold being the lower price 

up to 2-hour tickets. In line with the 40% reduction in usage between 2019-2020 and 2021-2022, the revenue 

returned per space at the MSCP decreased markedly over the period. 

 

  

Page 119



 

 

Page 6 
 

INTRODUCTION 

The Study 

In November 2022 WSP were commissioned to support Central Bedfordshire Council (CBC) in appraising 

the utilisation of off-street car parking spaces in Leighton Buzzard’s town centre.  

The study considers two sets of data. Firstly, there is ticket purchase data covering the following three 

periods: 

▪ April 2019 – March 2020  

▪ April 2020 – March 2021 

▪ April 2021 – March 2022 

These periods overlap with the Covid-19 Pandemic and associated “Lockdowns” which were implemented 

to varying degrees between March 2020 and March 2022, with March 2020 – March 2021 being the most 

restricted period and April 2021-March 2022 showing a recovery in demand2 for parking as people 

incrementally returned to work and leisure in the town centre. 

Secondly, there is ANPR data obtained for the period 5th December 2022 to 11th December 2022. Whilst only 

a ‘snapshot’, the ANPR data provides duration of stay data and occupancy figures which supplements the 

ticket data which only allows estimation of those values based upon tickets purchased. 

The information on the parking’s utilisation is intended for use in identifying where space consolidation or 

reallocation could be undertaken, enabling alternative land use and development. 

The purpose of this note is to set out how the utilisation analysis was undertaken. 

  

 
2 With the exception of a ‘Firebreak’ lockdown in December 2021, the impact of which is clearly shown on ticket sales. Page 120



 

 

Page 7 
 

CAR PARK LOCATIONS, PROVISION & TARIFFS 

CURRENT PARKING PROVISION 

For context, Figure 1 shows the location of the car parks. 

 

Figure 1: Car Park Locations 

There are five car parks in the town centre of Leighton Buzzard. The three closest to the centre offer a 

range of tariffs from one hour to one week, as well as longer-term permits.  

Page 121



 

 

Page 8 
 

Table 1 sets out the nature of the three car parks and the number of spaces available at each. 

Car Park Name Nature 
Total 

Spaces 

Standard 

(General 

Public) 

Permit 

Bays 

Market 

Trader Bays 
Disabled 

Duncombe 

Drive 
Surface 139 65 29 42 3 

Hockliffe Street Surface 126 83 40 0 2 

West Street Multi-storey 266 252  0 14 

Table 1: Parking Space Provision 

Permit bays refer to spaces reserved for those with Permits acquired from CBC. These permits generally last 

for a year but can be extended. 

In addition to the preceding three car parks, two further surface car parks are available. Rather than a range 

of tariffs, these car parks are free to use for up to two hours, with an exception for Permit Holders. 

 

Car Park 

Name 
Nature 

Total 

Spaces 

Standard 

(General 

Public) 

Permit 

Bays 

Market 

Traders 
Disabled 

Baker Street Surface 54 48 6 N/A N/A 

New Road Surface 10 8 2 N/A N/A 

Table 2: Free to Use / Permit Only Car Parks 

Duncombe Drive also provides designated spaces for Market Traders. As shown in Table 3 on the following 

page, Market Traders pay a flat £3.50 for parking. Market Days are primarily on Tuesdays and Saturdays 

and the market trader bays are reserved for them on those days. The public can park in the market trader 

bays when they are not reserved. 

  

Page 122



 

 

Page 9 
 

Tariffs 

To support the analysis of the Ticket Sales data, CBC provided information on the tariff structure applied to 

the study car parks between 2018 and 2022. These Tariffs apply to the Cashless and Pay & Display sales 

(more details are provided in the next Chapter), with Permits being handled separately. 

The Tariffs during the study period are set out in Table 3 - Table 5, below. Values are in pounds (£). 

Car Park 
Up to 1 

Hour 

Up to 2 

Hours 

Up to 3 

Hours 

Up to 5 

Hours 

up to 10 

hours 

Weekly 

Ticket 

Market 

Traders 

(Day) 

Duncombe Drive 1 1 2 3.5 6.5 15 3.5 

Table 3: Duncombe Drive Tariff Structure 

Car Park 
Up to 1 

Hour 

Up to 2 

Hours 

Up to 3 

Hours 

Up to 5 

Hours 

up to 10 

hours 

Weekly 

Ticket 

Hockliffe Street 1 1.5 2 3.5 6.5 15 

Table 4: Hockliffe Street Tariff Structure 

Car Park 
Up to 1 

Hour 

Up to 2 

Hours 

Up to 3 

Hours 

Up to 5 

Hours 

up to 12 

hours 
Sunday 

West Street 1 1.5 2 3.5 6.5 2 

Table 5: West Street Tariff Structure 

The Tariffs were revised in April 2022, after the study period. As part of the revision, charges standardised 

across all three sites3. For reference, this is provided in Table 6 below. 

Car 

Park 

Up to 

30 mins 

Up to 1 

Hour 

Up to 2 

Hours 

Up to 3 

Hours 

Up to 5 

Hours 
all day 

Weekly 

Ticket 

Market 

Traders 

(Duncombe 

Drive) 

Sunday 

(MSCP 

Only) 

Tariff 1 1.5 2 3.5 6.5 2 17.5 3.5 2 

Table 6: Standardised Charge Regime (Post April 2022) 

As can be observed, the main shift is the introduction of a 30-minute tariff for £1 at all three sites, whereas 

the previous minimum period was £1 for 1 hour (or 2 hours at Duncombe Drive). 

 

 
3 Exceptions include Duncombe Drive retaining the dedicated Market Trader Fees, whilst the barrier equipped MSCP 
has a £2 Sunday tariff which isn’t present at the other sites. Page 123



 

 

Page 10 
 

INPUTS & ASSUMPTIONS 

Introduction 

The primary source of data for this study was a record of tickets and passes sold across Leighton Buzzard’s 

car parks between April 2019 and March 2022. The ticket information received was set out in three groups: 

▪ Pay & Display: Purchased from machine at site and located on the car dashboard. 

▪ Cashless: Purchased via mobile phone/app, then logged on revenue enforcement’s checking system; 

and 

▪ Permit: Purchased in advance from the Council. 

The second set of data for this study was a ‘snapshot’ ANPR survey undertaken in December 2022. This 

provided accurate occupancy data for the seven study days, as well as duration of stay data at each car park. 

This Chapter of the report sets out how each data set was analysed. 

Pay & Display and Cashless 

GENERAL PUBLIC 

Methodology 

Pay & Display and Cashless tariff purchases were provided as a table containing each tariff purchased with 

associated date and time. As these share the same tariff structure and don’t have dedicated spaces in the 

same way as Market Traders or Permit Holders, they’re considered together here. 

Two adjustments were made to the data to facilitate analysis. 

Firstly, purchase times were grouped into one-hour periods (between 00:00-01:00 to 23:00-00:00). This 

enabled easy presentation of ticket sales across the day and supported the ticket accumulation methodology 

detailed below. 

Secondly, the duration of stay for was identified based upon the tariff paid, in line with the values set out in 

Tables 3 to 5. In some instances, ticket values were recorded which did not align with the values in the tariff 

structure. Where this was recorded, the tariff was rounded down to the next tariff in the structure. For example, 

if a tariff of £4.50 (between the 5 hour and 1-day tariffs) was recorded, it would be rounded down to £3.50 (5 

hours). Due to a lack of exit data to clarify whether a vehicle stayed for less or more than the duration of the 

tariff purchased, it was assumed that each vehicle stayed for the duration of the tariff purchased. This 

provides a degree of robustness to the occupancy estimation as it assumes a ‘worst case scenario’. 

Once each Tariff had a standardised arrival period and stay period identified, they were input into an 

accumulation table which totalled the number of vehicles arriving in the car park in a period with those 

remaining from preceding periods, based upon the tariff paid. For example, if, in the first hour, two one-hour 

tickets and a two-hour ticket were recorded, then the accumulation table would record three vehicles. In the 

second hour, it would count the two-hour ticket from the preceding hour and any new arrivals. The estimated 

number of vehicles present could then be compared against the number of spaces available. 

Due to the assumption that each vehicle stayed for the duration of their tariff paid, there are some periods in 

which the estimated accumulation of vehicles exceeds the number of spaces present in the car park. Whilst 

this can’t happen, it enables identification of peak demand where one or more of the sites is approaching 

capacity. This is supported by the turnover data, calculated by dividing the arrivals per hour by the number Page 124



 

 

Page 11 
 

of spaces available. This shows some hours in which the number of vehicles arriving exceeds the number of 

spaces available, meaning that each space must turn over or be reused more than once in the period. 

In addition to the accumulation and turnover appraisal, the grouping of tickets by period purchased and tariff 

type enabled the following analysis: 

▪ Distribution of ticket purchases by month or year; 

▪ Turnover of spaces per hour or day, by dividing the total tickets purchased in the period by the number 

of spaces; and 

Assumptions & Exclusions 

▪ Due to the data being driven by ticket sales, any vehicles using the car parks outside of the charging 

periods aren’t included. Charging Periods Are: 

— 08:00-18:00 Monday, Wednesday, Thursday and Friday 

— 08:00-13:00 Tuesday and Saturday 

— Sunday is free all day. 

Due to the site’s barriers requiring a ticket, West Street still requires a reduced charge to use in periods 

other car parks are free. For example, there’s a £2 all day tariff in place on Sunday. 

▪ Due to the ticket information not including car park exit times, it is assumed that drivers stayed for the 

entire period allowed by their ticket. This forms a robust assumption of the number of vehicles present. 

▪ New Road and Baker Street Car Parks aren’t considered here, as they don’t have tariffs aside from 

Permits (which are considered separately, below). 

MARKET TRADERS 

Market Trader tariffs were provided as part of the Cashless tariff dataset. Due to their unique tariff structure 

and access to designated bays at Duncombe Drive, they were considered separately. 

As the tariffs cover single day periods, total tickets sold per day were calculated and compared against the 

number of bays available. 

Permits 

METHODOLOGY 

Due to their longer duration, permit purchases were grouped by Month and Duration of Purchase. A monthly 

accumulation was then calculated by the same approach as the hourly accumulation used for other ticket 

types. 

 

  

Page 125



 

 

Page 12 
 

Automatic Number Plate Recognition (ANPR) 

METHODOLOGY 

ANPR surveys were undertaken between the Monday the 5th of December and Sunday the 11th of 

December. These surveys provide a snapshot of the arrivals and departures from each car park. This gives 

observed accumulation data which can then be compared against the estimates made based upon ticket 

sales. 

Additionally, the ANPR data provides average stay durations at the town’s car parks. This provides additional 

context to the estimations made regarding the ticket sales data. 

 

  

Page 126



 

 

Page 13 
 

OUTCOMES 

Introduction 

This chapter sets out the findings produced through the application of the preceding methodology. Tickets 

are broken down into three categories as discussed previously. 

▪ Pay & Display and Cashless 

▪ Market Traders 

▪ Permits 

Pay & Display and Cashless 

DURATION OF STAY 

From Ticket Data 

Figure 2 shows annual ticket sales at West Street MSCP by nature of ticket, whilst Figure 3 shows monthly 

ticket sales at West Street MSCP by nature of ticket. 

 

Figure 2: West St MSCP Annual Ticket Sales by Nature of Ticket 

 

Page 127



 

 

Page 14 
 

 

Figure 3: West St MSCP Monthly Ticket Sales by Nature of Ticket 

Of the three car parks in the study, West Street MSCP has been the most impacted by the pandemic, with 

ticket sales 44% less in 2021-2022 than they were in 2019-2020. January 2022 was the closest to pre-

pandemic usage levels at -28% occupancy against 2020. 

Most ticket sales are for up to 1 hour, making 45-48% of annual sales, up to 2 hours makes up 22-27% of 

annual sales, whilst up to 3 hours makes up 17-18%. Whole day tickets are least common, making 3% of 

sales, or 4% if the reduced tariff Sunday whole day tickets are included. 

Figure 4 shows annual ticket sales at Duncombe Drive by nature of ticket, whilst Figure 5 shows monthly 

ticket sales at Duncombe Drive by nature of ticket. 

 

 

Figure 4: Duncombe Drive Annual Ticket Sales by Nature of Ticket 

Page 128



 

 

Page 15 
 

 

Figure 5: Duncombe Drive Monthly Ticket Sales by Nature of Ticket 

Duncombe Drive shows a stronger recovery from the pandemic than the West Street MSCP. Ticket sales are 

14% less than the 2019-2020 in 2021-2022. In some periods, particularly September – November 2021, the 

number of tickets sold were between 1 and 7% of those for 2019, with the annual figure likely impacted by 

the ‘firebreak’ that took place in December 2021. 

Similar to West St MSCP, the majority of tickets sold are for periods of up to 2 hours, making 76-77% of sales 

in 2019-2020 and 2021-20224, with 3-hour tickets making up 11-14%. In the same periods, Day Tickets made 

2% of sales, whilst week tickets made up 1%. 

Extension tickets are possible via the Cashless app and represent the extension of a previously purchased 

ticket by the addition of a further period, for example extending a one-week ticket for a second week. The 

ticket data provided these tickets as one final price for both purchases. As can be observed, these make a 

small minority of sales. 

  

 
4 Sales in 2020-2021 are atypical and thus not considered further. Page 129



 

 

Page 16 
 

Figure 6 shows annual ticket sales at Hockliffe Street by nature of ticket, whilst Figure 7 shows monthly 

ticket sales at Hockliffe Street by nature of ticket. 

 

Figure 6: Hockliffe Street Annual Ticket Sales by Nature of Ticket 

 

Figure 7: Hockliffe Street Monthly Ticket Sales by Nature of Ticket 

Both preceding Figures show that ticket sales at Hockliffe Street in 2021/22 generally remain below the level 

recorded for the equivalent period in 2019/2022, with annual sales being 14% less (the same as Duncombe 

Drive). However, in October 2021 sales were 2% greater than October 19, whilst November 2021 sales were 

within 4% of their pre pandemic levels. 

 

Page 130



 

 

Page 17 
 

In 2019-2020 and 2021-20225 the majority of tickets sold are for periods up to one hour (39-44%), then up to 

two hours (23-25%). Day and Week tickets are slightly more prevalent at Hockliffe Street than Duncombe 

Drive, forming 4% and 1-2% of sales respectively. 

Similar to Duncombe Drive, extension tickets form a small minority of ticket sales, however a slight increase 

in their use from 2019-202 to 2020-2021. 

From ANPR 

Figure 8, Figure 9 and Figure 10 compares the stay durations calculated from the ticket sale data in 2019-

2020, 2020-2021, 2021-2022 against the stay durations recorded by the ANPR during the 2022 survey. 

 

Figure 8: Stay Duration Trends- Duncombe Drive 

 

 

Figure 9: Stay Duration Trends- West Street MSCP 

 
5 As stated in regard to Duncombe Drive, sales in 2020-2021 are atypical and thus not considered further. Page 131



 

 

Page 18 
 

 

Figure 10: Stay Duration Trends- Hockliffe Street 

The preceding figures show a strong correlation between the stay duration calculated from the ticket sales 

data and the stay durations recorded in the ANPR. One exception to this is the “All Day or Longer” bracket, 

which is more prevalent in the ANPR than from the ticket data.  

The reason for this is that there is no charge after certain periods each day. Therefore, if a vehicle arrives 

just before the charge period ends then the tariff could be less than would be paid for the duration of stay if 

it was entirely in charged period. For example, a vehicle arriving at Duncombe Drive at 18:00 on a weekday 

could pay for a 2-hour ticket which would over-run the end of the charge period and remain valid until the 

start of the next charge period at 07:00, allowing the vehicle to remain up to 13 hours if desired. 

Aside from the ANPR showing a portion (3-10% depending on car park) utilising the uncharged periods to 

stay longer into the evening, it is apparent that the primary ticket sale and stay duration is 1-2 hours, 

depending on car park.  

  

Page 132



 

 

Page 19 
 

MONTHLY AND ANNUAL TICKETSALES6 

Figure 11 shows annual ticket sales at the three car parks, whilst Figure 12 shows sales by month and year. 

 

Figure 11: Total Ticket Sales by Year 

 

Figure 12: Total Ticket Sales by Month and Year 

Figure 11 shows that, as detailed in the preceding charts, the number of vehicles using West Street MSCP 

are recovering more slowly than at Duncombe Drive or Hockliffe Street, with ticket sales in 2021-2022 less 

at West Street than Duncombe Drive. Figure 12 shows that part of this might be due to a September Barrier 

failure which removed a portion of West Street’s revenue, however in other months the larger Multi Storey 

facility’s occupancy remains similar to or below Duncombe Drive. Ticket sales at the three car parks combined 

are 21% less in the 2021-2022 period than in 2019-2020 period, with October 2021-February 2022 between 

19 and 27% less than the equivalent October 2019-February 2020 period, discounting a March 2020-March 

2022 comparison as the former saw the beginning of lockdowns mid-month, skewing the day. 

 
6 From Ticket Sales Only, due to duration of study period. Page 133



 

 

Page 20 
 

TURNOVER 

Of the three car parks, Duncombe Drive is the only one where this occurs, with 138 instances in 2019-2020 

and 66 in 2021-2022. As shown in Figure 13, this most commonly occurs on Saturdays, then Tuesday, which 

are both market days. Albeit Saturday is generally the busiest day by a considerable margin.  

Turnover was calculated by dividing hourly ticket purchases against the number of spaces present in each 

car park. In periods where this was over 1, each space at a given car park would have, on average, been 

used more than once. 

Figure 13 shows periods in which demand in one hour is greater than the number of spaces available. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 13: Periods where Hourly Turnover Exceeds 1, by Day 

 

Periods where turnover exceeds one correlate with the overcapacity periods identified in the subsequent 

accumulation chart. 

The high turnover recorded here, in conjunction with the majority of tickets prior to 2022 being in the one-two 

hour ranges, makes a case that the majority of those using the sites are staying for less than the full period. 

This makes it significant that the April 2022 tariff review introduced a 30 minute which could cater for this 

demand7.  

 

  

 
7 Unfortunately, the ANPR survey data split duration of stay into 1 hour intervals. As such, it isn’t possible to infer what 
portion of stays are 30 minute duration and what portion are 1 hour duration. Page 134



 

 

Page 21 
 

From ANPR 

Figure 14 shows the number of 1-hour periods where arriving vehicles exceeded the total car park capacity 

during the seven days of the ANPR survey. Due to the ANPR not differentiating between General Users / 

Permit Holders / ANPR (etc) the calculation was based upon all hourly arrivals against all spaces available 

at the car park. 

 

Figure 14: Periods Across ANPR Study where Hourly Turnover Exceeds 1 

With the parameters set out in the preceding paragraph, the only one of the town’s five car park where 

demand exceeds overall capacity is Baker Street, in four instances. This lack of high turnover periods possibly 

reflects that demand is still reduced after Covid, or that the addition of specialist spaces, such as Permit and 

Market (which are shown in the ticket data to be less used) mitigates the consideration of all demand in one 

group. It is notable that Tuesday and Saturday are among the busiest days, as per the previous observations. 

  

Page 135



 

 

Page 22 
 

ACCUMULATION 

Inputs & Assumptions, the assumption that vehicles stayed for the duration of their tariff resulted in periods 

where vehicle accumulation exceeded car park capacity.  

 

Figure 15 shows the number of 1-hour periods per year in which the number of vehicles potentially using the 

car parks exceeded capacity, whilst Figure 16 shows occurrences monthly. The Overall value combines the 

capacity and the calculated accumulation of all three car parks. 

 

 
Figure 15: Periods where Accumulation Exceeds Parking Capacity – Annual 

 

Figure 15 indicates that in 2019-2020, there were 138 one-hour periods in which vehicle accumulation across 

all three car parks could have exceeded their combined capacity. In comparison, there are only 12 such 

periods in 2021-2022. Both pre and post pandemic, most of these occurrences are recorded on Saturdays.  

 

Of the three car parks, Duncombe Drive records the largest number of periods where potential accumulation 

exceeds the number of spaces available, both pre and post pandemic. Hockliffe Street also records a 

significant number of periods where accumulation theoretically could have exceeded capacity, however there 

was a marked reduction in such instances between 2019-2020 (1,585 periods over capacity) and 2021-2022 

(387 periods over capacity). 

Page 136



 

 

Page 23 
 

 
Figure 16: Periods where Accumulation Exceeds Parking Capacity – Monthly 

Figure 16 shows that the distribution of periods where accumulation could theoretically exceed capacity are 

relatively evenly distributed across the year, though June/July and November/December show small peaks, 

particularly in 2019-20208.  

 

This also indicates that peak demand for the three car parks is broadly aligned, with ‘busy’ periods occurring 

simultaneously across the three sites. Due to the lack of ticket data, it isn’t possible to compare usage at 

Baker Street or New Road. 

 

  

 
8 As previously mentioned, December 2021 demand was impacted by a mini-lockdown over the period. Page 137



 

 

Page 24 
 

From ANPR Data 

 

Figure 17 shows the vehicle accumulation recorded by the December 2022 ANPR survey at Duncombe 

Drive. 

 

Figure 17: Duncombe Drive Vehicle Accumulation Observed During ANPR survey 

This shows that the busiest day of the week is Saturday, where the number of vehicles present on site reach 

92% of the total vehicle capacity9, whilst exceeding the capacity of the general spaces. The busiest period 

on Saturday is between 10:00-14:00. There is also a secondary peak in demand on Saturday evening, likely 

catering to evening activities. This sees vehicles present reach 60% of the overall capacity available. 

This is followed by Tuesday and Friday, where demand reaches 74-75% of total capacity between 13:00-

14:00.  

In conjunction with the high turnover of spaces identified both from the ticket data and supported by the 

dominance of 1-2 hour stay periods observed in the ANPR, this would suggest there is some potential to 

reduce space provision at Duncombe Drive, though care must be taken to ensure that vehicles seeking a 

space don’t lead to delays in movement within or approaching the car park. 

  

 
9 Including Market Trader, Disabled and Permit Bays. Page 138



 

 

Page 25 
 

Figure 18 shows the vehicle accumulation recorded by the December 2022 ANPR survey Hockliffe Street. 

 

Figure 18: Hockliffe Street Vehicle Accumulation Observed During ANPR survey 

Hockliffe Street shows a different demand pattern to Duncombe Drive. On Weekdays, most vehicles arrive 

before 09:00, with the number of vehicles present falling away slowly across the day. This suggests a mixture 

of employment related trips and leisure trips, with the former arriving earlier and staying longer whilst the 

latter turn over. The demand peak in the evening of Max Weekday demand occurs on Friday. This is similar 

to the Saturday evening peak observed at Duncombe drive and likely reflects evening trips out for leisure 

purposes. 

There is also a similar Saturday evening peak shown at Hockliffe Street. It is notable that the accumulation 

of vehicles exceeds the general car parking capacity in this period, as it would be reasonable to think most 

of the leisure demand would be associated with general parking spaces, rather than commuter permits. 

Saturday’s primary accumulation period is longer than during the week, with 70-80% of spaces occupied from 

09:00-15:00. In conjunction with the duration of stay information and the ticket sales, this likely represents a 

rapid turnover of cars, rather than vehicles parking for a prolonged period. 

Overall, it seems that there is little reserve capacity available at Hockliffe Drive, particularly on Fridays and 

Saturdays. It also seems that the users of this site diverge from Duncombe Drive in having more commuter 

trips arriving in the traditional AM peak. 

 

 

 

 

 
Page 139



 

 

Page 26 
 

 

Figure 19 shows the vehicle accumulation recorded by the December 2022 ANPR survey Hockliffe Street.  

 

Figure 19: West Street MSCP Vehicle Accumulation Observed During ANPR survey 

Demand at West Street during the week peaks between 10:00 and 12:00, with Tuesday being the busiest 

weekday and recording 85% occupancy of all spaces. The ‘shoulders’ of the peak extend to 15:00, with 

demand remaining above 50% of those available. 

Saturday is considerably quieter at this site compared to the preceding turn up and go sites, with occupancy 

peaking at 60% of total spaces. This reserve capacity could, potentially, allow spaces to be consolidated from 

other car parks currently showing high Saturday demand (e.g., Duncombe Drive). 

  

Page 140



 

 

Page 27 
 

Figure 20 shows the vehicle accumulation recorded by the December 2022 ANPR survey at Baker Street. 

 

Figure 20: Baker Street Vehicle Accumulation Observed During ANPR survey 

As discussed elsewhere, Baker Street allows vehicles to park for no charge, but for a maximum of two hours. 

This will encourage a high level of turnover across the day, reflected in the duration of stay data. Despite this, 

the site’s occupancy exceeded ¾ of spaces between 09:00-11:00 and 14:00-16:00 on most weekdays, as 

well as 09:00-16:00 inclusive on Friday. Tuesday and Friday are the busiest weekdays at this site. 

Of the weekend, Saturday and Sunday also record high levels of occupancy in certain periods; 09:00-13:00 

on Saturday and 14:00-17:00 on Sunday. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Page 141



 

 

Page 28 
 

Figure 21 shows the vehicle accumulation recorded by the December 2022 ANPR survey at New Road. 

 

Figure 21: New Road Vehicle Accumulation Observed During ANPR survey 

This relatively small car park shows 80% occupancy a considerable number of times, with Tuesday being the 

busiest day. Monday and Wednesday are also busy, mostly in the evening. This site is unusual in that most 

high occupancy periods are later in the day, from 17:00-00:00, particularly Monday-Wednesday. 

Demand reduces at the weekend, moving to 60% of total spaces available at most. This likely reflects the 

reduced weekend tariffs at the town centre sites making the smaller, edge of centre site less desirable. 

Figure 22 shows the total number of vehicles present as a percentage of the total number of spaces of all 

classes. 

 

Figure 22: Overall Car Parks Occupancy 

Figure 22 reflects the ticket sales data in that the busiest days are Tuesday and Saturday, where Occupancy 

reaches 77% of all spaces available and 73%, respectively. In conjunction with the duration of stay data, this 

evidences that the accumulation estimates made from the ticket data (assuming people stay the duration of 

their ticket) are likely quite conservative for those with 1-3 hour tickets, resulting in higher accumulation than 

observed in reality, particularly as a review of duration of stay shows most visits being less than an hour. 
Page 142



 

 

Page 29 
 

 

The peak periods for accumulation each day are 11:00-13:00, which is when both shoppers and commuters 

are present at each site. There are also evening peaks on Thursday, Friday and Saturday, supporting the 

town’s night life, though these never exceed 40% of total capacity. 

  

Page 143



 

 

Page 30 
 

Permits 

The following Figures show the number of Permits active in any month against the number of dedicated 

permit bays available. Please note that this doesn’t include Permits acquired prior to the study period (i.e. 

pre March 2019). 

Figure 23 shows the number of permits active, as well as monthly sales, for Duncombe Drive. It also shows 

the number of dedicated Permit Bays available. 

 

 

Figure 23: Duncombe Drive Permits Active 

As can be observed, should all drivers holding valid permits wish to use Duncombe Drive on the same day, 

the demand would exceed the supply of dedicated bays available, potentially exacerbating the capacity 

challenges indicated previously.  

The Permit Sales data shows that the majority are renewed in January or December, around the start of the 

year. The uptake of Permits in 2021-2022 is lower than the equivalent 2019-2020 period, however the trend 

is toward increased / recovering Permit sales. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 144



 

 

Page 31 
 

Figure 24 shows the number of permits active, as well as monthly sales, for Hockliffe Street. It also shows 

the number of dedicated Permit Bays available for context. 

 

Figure 24: Hockliffe Street Permits Active 

Unlike Duncombe Drive, the number of Permit’s active remains below the number of Permit Bays present. 

As such, should all the permit holders arrive at the same time, there would still be capacity remaining at the 

site. The trend of Permit Sales at this site seems relatively stable, with only a slight decrease in 2021-2022 

compared to 2019-2020. 

  

Page 145



 

 

Page 32 
 

Figure 25 shows the number of permits active, as well as monthly sales, for the West Street MSCP. Unlike 

the preceding carparks, West Street doesn’t have dedicated bays for Permit Holders. 

 

Figure 25: West Street Permits Active 

As shown in Figure 25, there is considerable demand for Permits at West Street MSCP despite there being 

not dedicated bays for this demand. This could impact the number of spaces available for general users of 

the site. 

Figure 26 shows the number of permits active at New Road. 

 

 

Figure 26: New Road Permits Active 

Figure 26 shows that the there was, on average, one permit held for the two spaces present at the New 

Road car park. Whilst two permits are recorded as active in January 2022, detailed review of the permit data 

shows that the first permit expired on January 12th and the second permit became active on the 13th. This 

suggests that the same user renewed their permit, rather than two separate users. Page 146



 

 

Page 33 
 

 

Figure 27 shows the number of permits active at Baker Street in relation to the number of Permit Bays 

available. 

 

Figure 27: Baker Street Permits Active 

Figure 27 shows the number of Permits active at Baker Street during the study period. For most of the period 

between February and 2020 and March 2022, 1-2 more permits were active than spaces available, which 

could potentially impact the availability of the Up to 2-hour spaces for use. 

  

Page 147



 

 

Page 34 
 

Market Traders 

Figure 28 shows the monthly sales of Market Trader Day Tickets at Duncombe Drive. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 28: Market Trader Ticket Sales 

As can be observed, even if all market trader permits are present in the car park at the same time, this would 

not exceed the number of spaces available for them. This seems to suggest that there’s an oversupply of 

spaces, though the uptake of Market Trader permits seems to have increased in the 2021-2022 compared 

to previous periods. 

  

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

A
p

ri
l 2

0
1

9

M
ay

 2
0

1
9

Ju
n

e
 2

0
1

9

Ju
ly

 2
01

9

A
u

gu
st

 2
0

1
9

Se
p

te
m

b
er

 2
0

1
9

O
ct

o
b

er
 2

0
1

9

N
o

ve
m

b
er

 2
0

1
9

D
ec

e
m

b
er

 2
0

1
9

Ja
n

u
ar

y 
20

2
0

Fe
b

ru
ar

y 
20

2
0

M
ar

ch
 2

0
2

0

A
p

ri
l 2

0
2

0

M
ay

 2
0

2
0

Ju
n

e
 2

0
2

0

Ju
ly

 2
02

0

A
u

gu
st

 2
0

2
0

Se
p

te
m

b
er

 2
0

2
0

O
ct

o
b

er
 2

0
2

0

N
o

ve
m

b
er

 2
0

2
0

D
ec

e
m

b
er

 2
0

2
0

Ja
n

u
ar

y 
20

2
1

Fe
b

ru
ar

y 
20

2
1

M
ar

ch
 2

0
2

1

A
p

ri
l 2

0
2

1

M
ay

 2
0

2
1

Ju
n

e
 2

0
2

1

Ju
ly

 2
02

1

A
u

gu
st

 2
0

2
1

Se
p

te
m

b
er

 2
0

2
1

O
ct

o
b

er
 2

0
2

1

N
o

ve
m

b
er

 2
0

2
1

D
ec

e
m

b
er

 2
0

2
1

Ja
n

u
ar

y 
20

2
2

Fe
b

ru
ar

y 
20

2
2

M
ar

ch
 2

0
2

2

Duncombe Drive
Monthly Market Trader Ticket Sales

Monthly Sessions Sold Spaces Available

Page 148



 

 

Page 35 
 

Revenue 

Table 7 shows the annual revenue raised by the three car parks where Pay & Display and/or Cashless 

ticketing is present. 

Period 
West Street 

MSCP 
Duncombe Drive Hockliffe Street Total 

2019-2020 £219,398.45 £167,575.21 £155,356.55 £542,330.21 

2020-2021 £18,405.40 £32,904.35 £28,696.55 £80,006.30 

2021-2022 £128,551.40 £146,800.85 £127,035.85 £402,388.10 

Change from 2019-

2020 to 2021-2022 
-41% -12% -18% -26% 

Table 7: Annual Revenue by Car Park 

Table 7 shows that the Revenue generated by the car parks has declined 26% between 2019-2020 and 

2021-2022, with the largest drop being recorded at West Street. As in 2019-2020 the MSCP was the largest 

revenue generator, this has a disproportionate impact on the overall revenue.  

The reduction in revenue is in line with the reduction of ticket sales seen at each car park over the same 

period. This reflects the previous observation that the ticket sales are generally the same distribution between 

durations, just at a reduced total number of tickets. 

 

Figure 29: Monthly Car Park Revenue 

As observed in relation to the annual figures, the shifts in revenue broadly follow the ticket sales in quantity. 

Figure 29 does show that Hockliffe Street generates more Revenue per ticket sold as, despite lower ticket 

sales than Duncombe Drive, the revenues are broadly similar. One possible reason for this is that, during the 

study period, Duncombe Drive charged £1 for up to 2 hours, whilst Hockliffe Road charged £1 for up to 1 Page 149



 

 

Page 36 
 

Hour and £1.50 for up to 2 hours. As the up to 2 hour Tariff forms a large portion of sales, this makes for a 

significant shift. This might change after the April 2022 tariff review which standardised a £1.50 tariff for 1 

hour and £2 for 2 hours, across all sites. 

Figure 30 shows the revenue earned per general parking space, discounting spaces dedicated to Permit 

Holders, Market Traders and People with Disabilities. 

 

Figure 30: Monthly Car Park Revenue (by Space) 

Reflecting the high turnover of spaces recorded there, Duncombe Drive consistently reports the greatest 

revenue per parking space, despite most tickets sold being the lower price up to 2 hour tickets. In line with 

the 40% reduction in usage between 2019-2020 and 2021-2022, the revenue returned per space at the 

MSCP decreased markedly over the period. 

  

Page 150



 

 

Page 37 
 

Planning and Development 

To further support the findings of this study a review of any future proposed or planned developments within 

the Leighton Buzzard area was undertaken to determine if any were planned, under consideration for this 

part of the study were the size and purpose of the developments and the timescales in which the planned 

work was to be completed. 

 

All planning applications would be subject to CBC Planning Policy: 

Policy T1: Mitigation of Transport Impacts on the Network (CBC Local Plan 2015-2035) 

It should be demonstrated how the proposal will seek to reduce the need to travel and secure a modal shift 

towards sustainable forms of transport. This should be through an approach which first considers the ability 

to cater for walking and cycling, provide suitable public transport services, and make better use of existing 

highway capacity before considering the provision of additional roads. 

The results of this exercise did not identify any agreed or proposed developments in the area that would have 

a significant impact on the road network and parking provision within Leighton Buzzard. 

Encouraging the use of sustainable modes of transport will also help to reduce parking demand throughout 

Leighton Buzzard, whilst also improving the health of the residents through cycling and walking initiatives.  

Page 151



 

 

Page 38 
 

KEY FINDINGS 

It is evident from analysis of the ticket sales data that demand for spaces at Leighton Buzzard’s car parking 

sites has not returned to pre-pandemic levels, with a particular reduction in the usage of the West Street 

Multi-Storey car park. 

Of the three car parks, Duncombe Drive has recovered the most towards pre-pandemic usage levels, as well 

as recording the greatest turnover of spaces. This presents a situation where, were those purchasing tickets 

to stay for the full duration allowed demand for spaces at the site would exceed capacity for several days 

each year. However, due to the reduction in demand at West Street (and to a lesser extent Hockliffe Street) 

2021-2022 shows a degree of capacity being available across all three car parks even when Duncombe Drive 

would potentially be fully occupied. This is supported by the ANPR snapshot where the peak in vehicle 

accumulation is circa 80% of total capacity.  

OPTIONS 

INTRODUCTION 

Based upon the preceding analysis, there are several potential options for consolidating car parking provision 

in Leighton Buzzard Town Centre, thereby enabling land space reallocation. These options are not mutually 

exclusive, and several could be included in a package. 

REDUCE MARKET TRADER PROVISION AT DUNCOMBE DRIVE 

As shown in Figure 28 the data indicates that the Market Trader spaces are currently under-utilised, which 

could allow them to be re-purposed. Reviewing the data in more detail, between 2019-2022 the maximum 

sale of Market Trader Day tickets in a single day was 5 vehicles against a capacity of 42. This suggests that 

32 spaces could be repurposed whilst still leaving double the number of spaces compared to maximum 

demand. Local information suggests the majority of Market Traders utilise the area know as the ‘Cattle 

Market’ to park their vehicles on Market days which would support the apparent low take up of Market Trader 

permits in Duncombe Drive car park. 

TRANSFER LONG-STAY PARKING TO BAKER STREET 

Baker Street is currently allocated as high turnover spaces with a 2 hour maximum stay. However, the site is 

on the edge of the town centre area, as shown in Figure 1. This could make it a better fit for long-stay or 

permit parking use, where the longer stay is less impacted by time spent walking into town. 

In turn, this would allow spaces in the three central car parks (Duncombe Drive, Hockliffe Street and West 

Street) to be repurposed to short stay bays. As these are occupied for shorter durations, there’s greater 

turnover and so less are needed for equivalent permit demand. 

This option could also help mitigate the potential over-demand (identified in Figure 23) for Permit bays should 

more than 60% of permit holders arrive at Duncombe Drive. 

  

Page 152



 

 

Page 39 
 

CONSOLIDATING OR CLOSING DUNCOMBE DRIVE 

Review of the ANPR data and the long-term ticket sale trends between 2019 and 2022 shows that, whilst 

parking demand has been recovering since the Pandemic, there is a degree of reserve capacity available, 

with the ANPR showing circa 20% of all spaces available even in the busy December period. 

Figure 31 shows the relationship between car park occupancy recorded in the 2022 ANPR survey and two 

the proposed parking provision scenario. 

CBC propose to reduce parking on the site by 97 spaces, the data analysis supports this proposal, based on 

the peak occupancy levels identified through the ticket sales analysis and ANPR camera surveys this will 

leave circa 24 spaces available in the car parks at the busiest periods. 

Whilst the ANPR survey was just a one-week snapshot, it took place during a busy period (immediately pre-

Christmas). The demand recorded also compared well against the demand recorded over a similar period in 

the ticket survey data review. As such, it makes a robust basis for this appraisal based on the occupancy 

data available. Figure 31 suggests that reallocating the 97 spaces at Duncombe Drive could be undertaken 

with 5% reserve capacity still available even at the busiest time (mid-day Tuesday).  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 31: Parking Accumulation Against Space Provision Under Duncombe Drive Scenarios 

Closing the car park outright would put the remaining facilities at 104% occupancy at the busiest 1- hour 

period; however, would still operate without undue issue for the remainder of the week. This option could be 

supported by variable message signage to indicate car park occupancy. This would identify which car parks 

had spaces available and reduce unnecessary trips between sites and thus traffic on the network. 

 

Additionally, if the replacement development provides parking, this might not be such an issue; particularly if 

considered alongside other, wider measures to encourage modal share shift away from the private car and 

reducing overall parking demand. 

474
433

595

498

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

0
:0

0

4
:0

0

8
:0

0

1
2

:0
0

1
6

:0
0

2
0

:0
0

0
:0

0

4
:0

0

8
:0

0

1
2

:0
0

1
6

:0
0

2
0

:0
0

0
:0

0

4
:0

0

8
:0

0

1
2

:0
0

1
6

:0
0

2
0

:0
0

0
:0

0

4
:0

0

8
:0

0

1
2

:0
0

1
6

:0
0

2
0

:0
0

0
:0

0

4
:0

0

8
:0

0

1
2

:0
0

1
6

:0
0

2
0

:0
0

0
:0

0

4
:0

0

8
:0

0

1
2

:0
0

1
6

:0
0

2
0

:0
0

0
:0

0

4
:0

0

8
:0

0

1
2

:0
0

1
6

:0
0

2
0

:0
0

Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday Sunday

Data Analysis Scenario Chart - Leighton Buzzard

Total Parking Demand

Current Town Centre Parking Capacity

Capacity with Council Proposed Spaces Duncombe Drive (42)

Page 153



 

 

Page 40 
 

REVISED TARIFF STRUCTURE 

To reallocate demand between the busiest car parks (e.g., Duncombe Drive) and those where considerable 

capacity is available (e.g., West Street MSCP), one option might be revising the tariff structure to reflect 

distance the car park is located from the town centre. This could encourage users to reconsider their preferred 

parking location and reduce pressure in the more popular locations.  

We acknowledge this might be difficult to implement in the short term, as April 2022 saw the unification of the 

tariff structure across the 3 ticketed car parks in the town centre and further changes to the parking tariff may 

be resisted by stakeholders. 

FURTHER ANALYSIS 

Discussion with Central Bedfordshire Council identified two potential extensions to the study undertaken to 

date. 

The first would be survey of the town centre car park’s users. This could, for example, provide an 

understanding on why people choose particular car parking sites or aid in identifying how people might react 

to revisions in tariffs to encourage modal shift and/or use of different facilities. 

The second would be a review of April 2022- December 2022 ticket sales. Whilst the full financial year’s data 

set won’t be available until April/May this would still allow trend analysis against previous years. This would 

be the first dataset without any Covid-19 restrictions and as such could aid in understanding whether the 

repressed demand sales in 2021-2022 continued into 2022-2023. 

 

 

Page 154



Central Bedfordshire Council is seeking your views on a proposal to increase the
amount of land available for redevelopment south of the High Street in Leighton
Buzzard, by reducing car parking provision at Duncombe Drive car park.
A larger redevelopment site is a more attractive opportunity to developers and
regeneration can make a bigger difference to the town centre.

Car parking studies have shown that although Duncombe Drive car park is well
used, there is plenty of parking elsewhere in the town.

The Council is interested to hear your views about this proposal.
Please submit your responses by 2 June 2023

1. How far do you agree or disagree that the Council should redevelop the land it owns
south of the High Street?

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

2. Please explain why you agree or disagree to this:

3. How far do you agree or disagree that a community / cultural facility is important to
include in the redevelopment potential of the site?

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

Page 155



4. Please explain why you agree or disagree to this:

5. Given that car parking studies have shown that although Duncombe Drive car park is
well used, there is plenty of parking elsewhere in the town, how far do you agree or
disagree with the reduction in car parking at Duncombe Drive to enable more of the
area to be redeveloped?

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

6. Please explain why you agree or disagree to this:

7. How often do you currently use Duncombe Drive car park?

Daily

Weekly

Less often

Never

8. Which other town centre car parks to do you currently use? (please select all that
apply)

West Street multi storey

Hockliffe Street

Baker Street

New Road

Page 156



9. If the Council were to proceed with the proposal, which of the following spaces would
you prefer to see reduced? (please select one answer for each type of parking
space)

General public parking spaces (139
spaces currently)

Remove all these
spaces

Reduce some of these
spaces

Keep all of these
spaces

Disabled parking spaces (3 spaces
currently)

Permit parking spaces (29 spaces
currently)

Market trader parking spaces (42
spaces currently)

10. Please explain your answers to question 9:

Page 157



11. The car parking study shows there is sufficient car parking spaces available across
the different town centre car parks. Do you have any comments to make about any
of the following car parks? (please select all that you would like to comment on)

West Street multi storey

Hockliffe Street

Baker Street

New Road

We invite your comments about the sufficiency of car parking spaces at West Street
multi storey

We invite your comments about the sufficiency of car parking spaces at Hockliffe
Street

We invite your comments about the sufficiency of car parking spaces at Baker Street

We invite your comments about the sufficiency of car parking spaces at New Road

Page 158



Finally...

12. Do you have any other comments about the proposal?

About You
This section is about you. The following information will help us when considering your
opinions and to make sure that we're getting views of a cross-section of the community.
The answers will not be used to identify any individual. You can read more about why we
ask these questions on our website.
All of these questions are optional, and you can give as much or as little information as you
wish.

13. How did you hear about this consultation?

Central Bedfordshire Council website

E-mail from Central Bedfordshire Council

Local councillor surgery

Local MP surgery

Newspaper

Poster

Radio

Social media from Central Bedfordshire Council

Word of mouth

Other

If other, please tell us:

Page 159



14. If social media, please tell us which one:

Facebook

Instagram

LinkedIn

Twitter

Youtube

Other social media

If other social media, please specify:

15. Are you responding as: (please select one)

Resident

Market trader

Local Business

Town or Parish Council

Voluntary or community organisation

Other

If Market trader or local business, what type of business are you responding for?

If Town or Parish Council, please specify:

If voluntary or community organisation, please specify:

If other, please specify:

16. Do you hold a permit to park in the Duncombe Drive car park?

Yes

No

Page 160



17. Are you: (please select one)

Male

Female

Other

Prefer not to say

If other, please specify:

18. What is your age? (please select one)

Under 16 yrs

16-19 yrs

20-29 yrs

30-44 yrs

45-59 yrs

60- 64 yrs

65-74 yrs

75+ yrs

Prefer not to say

19. Do you consider yourself disabled? (please select one)
Under the Equality Act 2010 a person is considered to have a disability if they have a
physical or mental impairment which has a sustained and long-term adverse effect
on their ability to carry out normal day to day activities.

Yes

No

Prefer not to say

20. To which of these groups do you consider you belong? (please select one)

White British

Black or Black British

Asian or Asian British

Mixed ethnicity

Other ethnic group

Prefer not to say

If other, please specify:

Page 161



21. What is your religion or belief? (please select one)

Buddhist

Christian

Hindu

Jewish

Muslim

Sikh

No religion

Other

Prefer not to say

If other, please specify:

22. Is your gender identity the same as the gender you were assigned at birth? (please
select one)

Yes

No

Prefer not to say

23. How would you define your sexual orientation? (please select one)

Gay

Lesbian

Bisexual

Heterosexual

Other

Prefer not to say

If other, please specify:

24. What is your home or organisation's postcode?
This will only be used for analysis purposes and will not be used to identify you in
any way.

25. If you would like to receive alerts for any new consultations, please provide your
email address below to be added to our database, this will not be used or shared for
any other reason:

Page 162



Thank you.

Please return your completed form by 2 June 2023 to:
Freepost RSJS GBBZ SRZT (you do not need a stamp)

Land South of the High Street, Leighton Buzzard Consultation
Central Bedfordshire Council
Priory House, Monks Walk

Chicksands, Shefford
SG17 5TQ

Data Protection Act 2018
Please note that your personal details supplied on this form will be held and/or computerised by Central Bedfordshire
Council for the purpose of this survey. The information collected may be disclosed to officers and elected members of
the Council and its’ partners involved in this survey. Summarised information from the forms may be published, but no

individual details will be disclosed under these circumstances.
Your personal details will be safeguarded and will not be divulged to any other individuals or organisations for any other

purposes unless we need to do so in order to meet our legal duties obligations. If you do not wish to have your
personal details retained for the purposes given, please contact consultations@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk who will
arrange for their removal and deletion.  We will only be able to locate your data for removal if you have provided us

with a personal identifier, such as your email address.

For more information about how Central Bedfordshire Council handles your data, please visit
https://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/terms

Page 163



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 164



Page 165

Agenda Item 7



Page 166



Page 167



Page 168


	Agenda
	4 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
	5 MASTERPLANNING UPDATE
	Slide 1
	Slide 2
	Slide 3
	Slide 4
	Slide 5
	Slide 6
	Slide 7
	Slide 8
	Slide 9
	Slide 10
	Slide 11
	Slide 12
	Slide 13
	Slide 14
	Slide 15
	Slide 16
	Slide 17
	Slide 18
	Slide 19
	Slide 20
	Slide 21
	Slide 22
	Slide 23
	Slide 24
	Slide 25
	Slide 26
	Slide 27
	Slide 28

	6 CENTRAL BEDFORDSHIRE UPDATE
	Appendix A Leighton Buzzard Engagement Report
	Appendix B Leighton Buzzard community facilities survey results
	Appendix C Leighton Buzzard Car Parking Study
	LSOHS - Questionnaire

	7 ANY OTHER UPDATES

